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Summary: This book explores the legal culture of the 
Parsis, or Zoroastrians, an ethnoreligious community 
unusually invested in the colonial legal system of 
British India and Burma. Rather than trying to 
maintain collective autonomy and integrity by 
avoiding interaction with the state, the Parsis sank 
deep into the colonial legal system itself. From the late 
ÅÉÇÈÔÅÅÎÔÈ ÃÅÎÔÕÒÙ ÕÎÔÉÌ )ÎÄÉÁȭÓ ÉÎÄÅÐÅÎÄÅÎÃÅ ÉÎ ρωτχȟ 
they became heavy users of colonial law, acting as 
lawyers, judges, litigants, lobbyists, and legislators. 
They de-Anglicized the law that governed them and 
enshrined in law their own distinctive models of the 
family and community by two routes: frequent 
intragroup litigation often managed by Parsi legal 
professionals in the areas of marriage, inheritance, 

religious trusts, and libel, and the creation of legislation that would become Parsi 
personal law. Other South Asian communities also turned to law, but none seems to 
have done so earlier or in more pronounced ways than the Parsis. 
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Chapter 6 

Entrusting the Faith : 

Religious Trusts and the Parsi Legal Profession  

During the latter half of the nineteenth century, Parsi charitable trust suits relating 

to religious funds and properties started arriving in the upper courts. These 

conflicts were power struggles among the people controlling the money and 

property subtending Zoroastrian fire temples, towers of silence, cemeteries, rest 

houses, sanitoria, and charitable funds.1 Often, these disputes turned on intragroup 

differences over religious doctrine, power relations, and collective identity. Could 

ethnic outsiders be initiated into the religion? Did sea travel by high priests 

invalidate the religious ceremonies carried out after their arrival?2 Did priests 

determine practical operating procedures within a fire temple or was this a privilege 

of the patrons who funded the temple? These questions were resolved not by 

priestly  or community bodies, but in court. 

Around the same time as religious trust suits became common, Parsis started 

flourishing in the colonial legal profession. They soon became judges in the upper 

courts. In 1906, the first Parsi was appointed to the Bombay High Court bench. By 

1930, the first Parsi had become a Privy Council judge in London. Patterns in 

litigation and the legal profession converged: by a lucky confluence of factors, Parsi 

                                                 
1
 Parsi bodies were buried in Parsi-only cemeteries (or sections of cemeteries) in Rangoon, 

Colombo, London, Berlin, and elsewhere because the Parsi population was too small to justify 

maintaining a dakhma. In these situations, the usual prohibition on burial did not apply. See 

Patel and Paymaster, V: 196; Desai, History, 196–7; Sharafi, “Bella’s Case,” 50–8. 
2
 See Hinnells, “Changing Perceptions,” 112; Sharafi, “Bella’s Case,” 248–56. 
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lawyers and judges managed many of the lawsuits among their co-religionists. 

Through law, these figures became intellectual middlemen in the negotiation of their 

Ï×Î ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȭÓ ÉÍÁÇÅ ÁÎÄ ÉÄÅÎÔÉÔÙȢ 

The micro- and macro-effects of intragroup litigation were in tension with 

each other. On the one hand, the frequency and vigor with which Parsis turned to 

the courts came at a terrible social price. As it does today, litigation between Parsis 

ripped apart families, friends, and entire communities.3 Major lawsuits lasted for 

years. They dragged litigants around the world on appeal and for the collection of 

ÅÖÉÄÅÎÃÅ ȰÏÎ ÃÏÍÍÉÓÓÉÏÎȢȱ4 Intragroup litigation bankrupted, embittered, and aged 

its Parsi participants. By oral history accounts, the ugliest Parsi trust suits hastened 

the deaths of their more sensitive participants.5 Despite the heartbreak, though, the 

repetition of a painful microprocess created something collectively productive. In a 

different colonial context, Steve Stern has suggested that intragroup litigation in 

colonial courts weakened the colonized community vis-à-vis the colonizers.6 The 

British Indian setting reflected an alternative outcome. Among the Parsis, the 

ceaseless airing of dirty laundry in the general Anglosphere produced 

embarrassment. Arguably, familiarity with the legal forum exacerbated intragroup 

conflict. But it was also enabling. By the coincidence that a corps of Parsi lawyers 

and judges existed, intragroup lawsuits simultaneously became a source of legal 

power for the community. The figure that epitomized this phenomenon was Dinshah 

                                                 
3
 See Hinnells, Zoroastrian Diaspora, 234–5. 

4
 See Sharafi, “Bella’s Case,” 184–5, 360–2. 

5
 See ibid., 409. 

6
 Steve J. Stern, Peruôs Indian Peoples and the Challenge of Spanish Conquest: Huamanga to 

1640 (Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Press, 1982), 115, 132. 
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D. Davar, the first Parsi judge of the Bombay High Court. Between 1906 and 1916, a 

series of Zoroastrian trust suits landed in his court. He decided them in ways that 

ÒÅÆÌÅÃÔÅÄ ÈÉÓ ÒÅÌÉÇÉÏÕÓÌÙ ÏÒÔÈÏÄÏØ ÖÉÓÉÏÎ ÏÆ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÉÄÅÎÔÉÔÙȢ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÃÁÒÅÅÒ ÓÈÏ×ÅÄ 

that the ethnic and religious identity of colonial judges mattered. Through the 

production of usable precedents, South Asian judges and lawyers interpreted the 

culture of the colonized for the colonial legal system. Sometimes they described 

ȰÃÏÕÓÉÎȱ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÉÅÓȢ7 At other times, they inserted themselves into controversies 

in their own communities. Either way, these judges put the force of colonial law 

behind one side of intragroup disputes. Davar epitomized this phenomenon in the 

context of Zoroastrian charitable trusts. 

In -Fight ing 

Fighting in court came at a cost. Niklas Luhmann has described the shift from social 

fighting to litigation as a move from one normative vocabulary to another.8 With this 

shift came a certain trauma and irreversibility. Stewart Macaulay has emphasized 

the destructive quality of litigation to long-term contractual relationships. In an 

effort to avoid litigation, Macaulay observed that businesspeople who wanted to 

preserve good relations would not insist on their strict legal rights.9 Going to court 

destroyed relationships, a result particularly difficult to bear in close, face-to-face 

                                                 
7
 See Sharafi, “New History,” 1072–9. 

8
 See Niklas Luhmann, “Communication about Law in Interaction Systems,” in Advances in 

Social Theory and Methodology, eds. Karin Knorr-Cetina and Aaron V. Cicourel (Boston: 

Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1981), 241–2; Stewart Macaulay’s discussion of Luhmann in his 

“Organic Transactions: Contract, Frank Lloyd Wright and the Johnson Building,” Wisc. LR 

(1996), 114–15. 
9
 Stewart Macaulay, “Non-Contractual Relations in Business: A Preliminary Study,” 75–90 in 

Macaulay, Friedman, and Mertz. 
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communities where people could not melt anonymously into a mobile and shifting 

population. 

!Ó ÏÎÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ×ÏÒÌÄȭÓ ÇÒÅÁÔ ÍÅÒÃÁÎÔÉÌÅ ÍÉÎÏÒÉÔÉÅÓȟ 0ÁÒÓÉÓ ÈÁÄ ÎÅÔ×ÏÒËÓ ÏÆ 

trust and trade spanning the globe. Persia was a motherland of one type.10 Britain 

was another.11 Parsis enjoyed high mobility but low anonymity along their global 

diasporic circuits. The process of making inquiries across national and imperial 

borders produced remarkably private information about Parsis overseas. With the 

rise of fears over group extinction, the community became even more tight-knit and 

self-aware. These anxieties were heightened by the advent of the census in 1871: 

rates of marriage and birth rates among Parsis were comparatively low, and the 

average age at marriage was high.12 Occasionally, elite Parsi men also married 

%ÕÒÏÐÅÁÎ ×ÏÍÅÎȢ /ÒÔÈÏÄÏØ 0ÁÒÓÉÓ ×ÁÎÔÅÄ ÔÈÅÓÅ ÃÏÕÐÌÅÓȭ ÃÈÉÌÄÒÅÎ ÔÏ ÂÅ ÉÎÅÌÉÇÉÂÌÅ 

for initiation into the Zoroastrian religion. 13 For those who subscribed to a notion of 

racial purity, this form of desired exclusion further diminished the total number of 

Parsis. 

                                                 
10

 See Suit No. 1 of 1930, 1929–35 PCMC Notebook, I: 48, 51, IV: 177; Suits No. 6 of 1937 and 

3 of 1938, 1937–41 PCMC Notebook, I: 31, II: 13–14, 62–3; Suits No. 8 and 9 of 1942, 1941–

8 PCMC Notebook, I: 331–5. See also by Sharafi, “Bella’s Case,” 341–9; “Marital 

Patchwork,” 1003–6. 
11

 See, for instance, Suit No. 5 of 1913, 1913–20 PCMC Notebook, I: 43–44; Suit No. 10 of 1933, 

1929–35 PCMC Notebook, IV: 138–41. See also Chapter 2 at notes 142–4. 
12

 Desai, Parsis, 71. By Leela Visaria, see “Religious and Regional Differences in Mortality and 

Fertility in the Indian Subcontinent” (PhD dissertation, Dept. of Sociology, Princeton 

University, 1972), 139–74; “Demographic Transition among Parsis: 1881–1971, III–Fertility 

Trends,” EPW 9:43 (1974), 1828–32.   
13

 See Sharafi, “Judging Conversion”; “Bella’s Case,” 76–8, 149–70. 
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In other diasporic mercantile minorities, disputes were typically handled 

within the group.14 Social sanctions and taboos kept inside fights out of court. But 

the Parsis lacked the community institutions and culture to contain their own 

intragroup disputes. The case law between them was a catalogue of conflicts 

between siblings, relatives, spouses, friends, neighbors, parents and children, 

landlords and tenants, and former co-litigants.15 In Petit v. Jijibhai, the British judge 

&Ȣ #Ȣ /Ȣ "ÅÁÍÁÎ ÓÕÇÇÅÓÔÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ ȰÔÏÏ ÍÕÃÈ ÄÉÒÔÙ ÌÉÎÅÎȱ ×ÁÓ ÂÅÉÎÇ ÁÉÒÅÄȢ (Å ÈÁÄ ÉÎ 

mind the historical prevalence of lower caste servant mistresses and extramarital 

ÃÈÉÌÄÒÅÎ ÁÍÏÎÇ 3ÕÒÁÔȭÓ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÐÁÔÒÉÁÒÃÈÓȢ16 In another Parsi trust case between 

ÍÅÍÂÅÒÓ ÏÆ ÏÎÅ ÆÁÍÉÌÙȟ $ÁÖÁÒ ÒÅÍÁÒËÅÄ ÃÁÕÓÔÉÃÁÌÌÙȡ ȰIt appears to me that the 

members of the family have no real occupation in life and they amuse themselves 

principally by carrying on acrimonious correspondence and litigating amongst 

                                                 
14

 For example, see Janet T. Landa, “A Theory of the Ethnically Homogeneous Middleman 

Group: An Institutional Alternative to Contract Law,” J.  Legal Stud. 10 (1981), 349–62; Barak 

D. Richman, “How Community Institutions Create Economic Advantage: Jewish Diamond 

Merchants in New York,” LSI 31 (2006), 383–418. 
15

 For a sample from the notebooks of D. D. Davar (BHC), see In the Matter of the Indian Trustee 

Act No. 27 of [1866] and Indian Trust Act No. 2 of 1882. In the matter of the deed of Charity 

Settlement of 29 May 1888 made by Framji Covasji Marker, “Judgments (7 January 1908–7 

December 1908),” 1–5; Dinsha Framji Marker v. Dossibai Framji Marker in “Judgments (5 

January 1909–7 October 1909),” 1–7; Payne and Company v. Pirosha Nusserwanji Patell in 

“Judgments (19 January 1911 to 17 July 1911),” 1–40; and Sirdar Nowroji Pudumji v. Putlibai, 

“Judgments (14 January 1913–18 December 1913),” 87–93. From case papers (BHC), see 

Framji Shapurji Patuck and others v. F. E. Davar, Suit No. 791 of 1904; Bhai Bhicaji v. 

Perojshaw Jivanji Kerawalla, Suit No. 1288 of 1914; Manekji Rustomji Bharucha v. Nanabhai 

Cursetji Bharucha, Suit No. 258 of 1928. See also “Recorder’s Court. Before W. F. Agnew, 

Esq. Dissolution of Partnership,” Rangoon Gazette Weekly Budget (31 January 1890), 9; 

Mancherji Manokji Poonjiajee v. Framji Manockji Poonjiajee 2 Bom LR 1026 (1900); 

Shapurji Bezonjee Motiwalla v. D. B. Motiwalla case papers, Suit No. 473 of 1905 (BHC) and 

ILR 30 Bom 359 (1906); Sorabji Hormusji Batlivala v. J. M. Wadia ILR 38 Bom 552 (1914); 

Jehangir Dadabhoy and B. Jehangiri v. Kaikhusru Kavasha re estate of Pallonji Dadabhoy 

Cooverbai and Kavasha Edulji JCPC case papers, 1914: vol. 34, judgment no. 98 (PCO); 

Rustomji Heejeebhoy v. C. Dadabhoy and others ILR 48 Bom 348 (1924); Bai Meherbai 

Sorabji Master v. Pherozshaw Sorabji Gazdar ILR 51 Bom 885 (1927); “Parsi Brothers in 

Court. Wild Allegations,” TI (9 October 1929), 15. 
16

 Petit v. Jijibhai, 576. 
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ÔÈÅÍÓÅÌÖÅÓȢȱ17 One judge commented that he had abandoned hope for a settlement 

ÉÎ Á 0ÁÒÓÉ ÔÒÕÓÔ ÓÕÉÔ ȰÄÕÅ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÆÅÅÌÉÎÇÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÐÁÒÔÉÅÓ ÈÁÖÉÎÇ ÂÅÃÏÍÅ ÅÍÂÉÔÔÅÒÅÄ 

ÄÕÒÉÎÇ ÔÈÅ ÐÒÏÇÒÅÓÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÓÕÉÔȢȱ %ÁÃÈ ÓÉÄÅ ÁÃÃÕÓÅÄ ÔÈÅ ÏÔÈÅÒ ÏÆ ÌÙÉÎÇ ÉÎ ÃÏÕÒÔȢ18 Other 

cases between Parsis involved accusations of addiction and imbecility.19 Allegations 

of violence, venereal disease, and adultery all featured prominently in the Parsi 

Chief Matrimonial Court.20 By suing their co-religionists, Parsi plaintiffs showed 

their willingness to reveal secrets in the colonial courtroom. The desire for victory 

or punitive litigating overrode any sense that disputes among Parsis ought to be 

kept off the public stage.21 In many cases, the impulse to litigate also overshadowed 

the desire to preserve long-term relationships. 

Two examples illustrated the phenomenon. The case of Bomanjee Byramjee 

Colah was born out of the breakdown of relations within one family. Pestonji Jeevanji 

v. Chinoy, by contrast, reflected the disintegration of civility within the Parsi 

community of Secunderabad, a British military cantonment sitting within the 

ÓÕÂÃÏÎÔÉÎÅÎÔȭÓ ÌÁÒÇÅÓÔ ÐÒÉÎÃÅÌÙ ÓÔÁÔÅ ÏÆ (ÙÄÅÒÁÂÁÄȢ22 Both cases were unusual in 

ÔÈÁÔ ÔÈÅÙ ÍÏÖÅÄ ÆÁÒ ÂÅÙÏÎÄ 3ÏÕÔÈ !ÓÉÁȢ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÃÁÓÅ ÁÒÏÓÅ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ .Å× 9ÏÒË #ÏÕÒÔ ÏÆ 

                                                 
17

 “In the Matter of the Indian Trustee Act No. 27 of 1866 and Indian Trust Act No. 2 of 1882. In 

the Matter of the Deed of Charity Settlement of 29 May 1888 made by Framji Covasji Marker” 

in D. D. Davar, Judgments (1908), 2. 
18

 “No. 294: Judgment of the Judicial Commissioner in Regular Appeal No. 76 of 1901, 12–12–

1901,” 718 in Pestonji Jeevanji v. Chinoy JCPC case papers. 
19

 For allegations of imbecility and addiction to morphine, opium, and alcohol, see Vatchagandy 

v. Vatchagandy in D. D. Davar, Judgments (1910). 
20

 For some of the most extreme cases, see Suit No. 14 of 1939, 1937–41 PCMC Notebook, III: 

117–55; Suit No. 16 of 1940, 1941–8 PCMC Notebook, III: 198–200. See also Chapter 5 at 

notes 165-9. 
21

 For a probable case of punitive litigating among Parsis, see “Rangoon Defamation Case. 

Personal Attendance Necessary,” Poona Observer (22 May 1914), 5. 
22

 See Sharafi, “Marital Patchwork,” 984. 
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Common Pleas. The Secunderabad case was appealed to the Privy Council in 

London. Both exemplified the destructive effects of litigation on Parsi relations. And 

both illustrated the degree to which this breakdown unleashed a flow of 

compromising information in the public arena. 

The Parsi merchant B. B. Colah arrived in New York in 1870 carrying 

$100,000 in gold.23 He had battled his two brothers in the Bombay courts for his 

ÓÈÁÒÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅÉÒ ÆÁÔÈÅÒȭÓ ÉÎÈÅÒÉÔÁÎÃÅȢ (ÁÖÉÎÇ ÓÕÃÃÅÅÄÅÄȟ ÈÅ ÌÅÆÔ ÈÉÓ ×ÉÆÅ ÁÎÄ ÃÈÉÌÄÒÅÎ ÉÎ 

"ÏÍÂÁÙ ÉÎ ÏÒÄÅÒ ÔÏ ÍÁËÅ ȰÁ ÐÌÅÁÓÕÒÅ ÔÒÉÐ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ×ÏÒÌÄȢȱ24 He began in Calcutta then 

proceeded to Europe and continued west to New York. Financed by his portable 

ÉÎÈÅÒÉÔÁÎÃÅȟ #ÏÌÁÈ ×ÅÎÔ ÏÎ ȰÁ ÌÏÎÇ ÁÎÄ ÒÅÃËÌÅÓÓ ÓÐÒÅÅ ÉÎ ÔÈÉÓ ÃÉÔÙȟ ÁÎÄ ÈÉÓ ÃÏÎÄÕÃÔ 

became a matter of such public notoriety that he was taken into custody as a person 

ÏÆ ÕÎÓÏÕÎÄ ÍÉÎÄȢȱ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÃÁÓÅ ÁÒÒÉÖÅÄ ÂÅÆÏÒÅ ÔÈÅ .Å× 9ÏÒË #ÏÕÒÔ ÏÆ #ÏÍÍÏÎ 0ÌÅÁÓ 

ÂÅÃÁÕÓÅ ÈÅ ×ÁÓ ÄÅÅÍÅÄ Á Ȱ×ÁÎÄÅÒÉÎÇ ÌÕÎÁÔÉÃȢȱ25 He was committed to one asylum 

after another and was examined by a string of New York psychiatrists. 

The Court had to decide how to convey Colah back to Bombay and how to 

protect his gold. No other Parsis could be located in New York. However, an 

American army major named Alexander George Constable took an interest in the 

case. Constable had spent fourteen years in Bombay Presidency and claimed to have 

ÂÅÅÎ ×ÅÌÌ ÁÃÑÕÁÉÎÔÅÄ ×ÉÔÈ ÔÈÅ ȰÈÁÂÉÔÓȟ ÃÕÓÔÏÍÓȟ ÌÁÎÇÕÁÇÅȟ ÃÈÁÒÁÃÔÅÒÉÓÔÉÃÓ ÁÎÄ 

                                                 
23

 I owe all Colah case materials to Kathryn Burns-Howard, who discovered the case during her 

archival research on the New York Court of Common Pleas. I thank her for her exceptional 

generosity in sharing with me images of these primary sources. 
24

 “Mr. Jarvis must pay up. Ordered to account for the Colah Estate,” NYT (24 August 1886), 8. 
25

 “Only a Pittance Left. Management of a Parsee Merchant’s Fortune,” NYT (18 February 1886), 

2. 
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ÒÅÌÉÇÉÏÕÓ ÆÁÉÔÈ ÁÎÄ ÐÒÁÃÔÉÃÅÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÉÓȢȱ26 The New York court noted that Colah 

refused to speak in English and that Constable was the only person with whom he 

×ÏÕÌÄ ÓÐÅÁË ÂÅÃÁÕÓÅ #ÏÎÓÔÁÂÌÅ ÓÐÏËÅ Ȱ-ÁÈÒÁÔÔÁȢȱ27 The claim was curious: the 

0ÁÒÓÉ ÌÁÎÇÕÁÇÅ ×ÁÓ 'ÕÊÁÒÁÔÉȟ ÎÏÔ -ÁÒÁÔÈÉȢ Ȱ-ÁÈÒÁÔÔÁȱ ÏÒ Ȱ-ÁÒÁÔÈÁȱ ×ÁÓ ÔÈÅ ÎÁÍÅ ÏÆ Á 

people and dynasty in early modern western India. It was possible that Constable 

and Colah were speaking different (though related) languages to each other, that 

Colah was fluent in Marathi, or simply that Constable was misleading the court. If 

the last option were true, it was only the start of the MaÊÏÒȭÓ ÔÒÉÃËÅÒÙȢ #ÏÎÓÔÁÂÌÅ 

agreed to escort Colah back to Bombay, making the trip by steamer from New York 

to San Francisco and then to Hong Kong and Bombay.28 Colah could not manage 

such a trip alone, and the court worried that he would not survive even if 

accompanied by Constable and a personal physician.29 Colah was suffering from 

ȰÓÕÂÁÃÕÔÅ ÍÁÎÉÁȱ ÁÌÏÎÇ ×ÉÔÈ ÍÏÒÅ ÐÈÙÓÉÃÁÌ ÁÉÌÍÅÎÔÓ ÔÈÁÔ ÍÁÄÅ ÅÖÅÎ ×ÁÌËÉÎÇ ÁÒÏÕÎÄ 

ÈÉÓ ÁÓÙÌÕÍ ÒÏÏÍ ȰÔÈÅ ÕÔÍÏÓÔ ÔÏÒÔÕÒÅȢȱ30 The court decided to send Constable with 

Colah and to reimbÕÒÓÅ ÔÈÅ ÍÁÊÏÒ ÆÏÒ ÈÉÓ ÅØÐÅÎÓÅÓ ÏÕÔ ÏÆ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÇÏÌÄȢ 9ÅÁÒÓ ÌÁÔÅÒȟ 

ÔÈÅ ÏÕÔÌÁÎÄÉÓÈ ÓÕÍÓ ÓÉÐÈÏÎÅÄ ÏÕÔ ÏÆ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÅÓÔÁÔÅ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÂÅ ÔÈÅ ÓÕÂÊÅÃÔ ÏÆ ÁÎ 

                                                 
26

 “In the Court of Common Pleas. In the matter of Bomanjee Byramjee Colah, a Lunatic” 

(undated), 1 in “Incompetency Hearings, 1873–95, Court of Common Pleas for the City and 

County of New York,” B. B. Colah Case Papers, Court of Common Pleas of New York 

County, Division of Old Records (New York County Clerk’s Office). 
27

 “Court of Common Pleas, for the City and County of New York. In the Matter of Bomanjee 

Byramjee Colah, a Lunatic” (23 October 1871), 3 in Colah case papers. 
28

 Ibid., 17. 
29

 “In the Court of Common Pleas. In the matter of Bomanjee Byramjee Colah,” 4; “Court of 

Common Please…In the Matter of Bomanjee Byramjee Colah, A Lunatic,” 18–19; both in 

Colah case papers. 
30

 “New York Common Pleas. In the matter of Bomanjee Byramjee Colah, a Lunatic,” 1–2 in 

Colah case papers. 
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investigation. Implausibly, Constable claimed that the trip had cost $25,000, a 

ÑÕÁÒÔÅÒ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÖÁÌÕÅ ÏÆ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ gold.31 

#ÏÎÓÔÁÂÌÅȭÓ ÄÉÓÈÏÎÅÓÔÙ ×ÁÓ ÍÉÎÏÒ ÃÏÍÐÁÒÅÄ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÌÁÒÇÅÒ ÔÁÌÅ ÏÆ ÆÒÁÕÄ 

surrounding the vulnerable Parsi. Constable did escort Colah back to Bombay, but 

#ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÃÏÎÄÉÔÉÏÎ ×ÏÒÓÅÎÅÄ ÔÈÅÒÅ ÁÎÄ ÈÅ ÄÉÅÄ Á ÆÅ× ÙÅÁÒÓ ÌÁÔÅÒȢ32 One reason the 

New York court had wanted to send Colah back to India was out of concern for 

Zoroastrian death rites. New York had neither Zoroastrian priests nor facilities for 

ÅØÐÏÓÕÒÅ ÔÏ ÖÕÌÔÕÒÅÓȢ "ÏÔÈ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÆÁÔÈÅÒ-in-law and Constable testified that Parsis 

could be buried if they dieÄ ÉÎ Á ÐÌÁÃÅ ×ÉÔÈÏÕÔ ÔÏ×ÅÒÓ ÏÆ ÓÉÌÅÎÃÅȢ Ȱɍ4ɎÈÅÒÅ ÁÒÅ ÍÁÎÙ 

0ÁÒÓÅÅ ÍÅÒÃÈÁÎÔÓ ÉÎ 'ÒÅÁÔ "ÒÉÔÁÉÎ ÁÎÄ ÉÎ ÏÔÈÅÒ ÃÏÕÎÔÒÉÅÓ ÆÏÒÅÉÇÎ ÔÏ ÔÈÅÉÒ Ï×Îȟ ÁÎÄ ȣ 

when they die, they are buried like other people according to the usages of the 

ÃÏÕÎÔÒÙ ÏÆ ÔÈÅÉÒ ÒÅÓÉÄÅÎÃÅȟȱ #ÏÎÓtable reported accurately.33 Still, with the view that 

Colah would be better off with his family, the court decided to send him back to 

India.34 (ÉÓ ÇÏÌÄ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÓÔÁÙ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ 5ÎÉÔÅÄ 3ÔÁÔÅÓȢ 0ÁÒÔÌÙ ÏÎ #ÏÎÓÔÁÂÌÅȭÓ 

recommendation, the court retained custody of the gold. It was sold, and its 

proceeds were invested in a trust company in New York. The person put in charge of 

managing this money was a clerk of the Court of Common Pleas: one Nathaniel 

Jarvis, Junior. Sixteen years later, Jarvis was convicted of embezzling the money. A 

fund that was initially $100,000 in the early 1870s and ought to have grown by 6 

percent per year totaled a paltry $33 in 1886. Jarvis blamed the disappearance of 

#ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÍÏÎÅÙ ÏÎ Á ÂÁÄ ÉÎÖÅÓÔÍÅÎÔȟ ÂÕÔ ÈÉÓ ÒÅÃÏÒÄÓ ×ÅÒÅ ÁÌÍÏÓÔ ÎÏÎÅØÉÓÔÅÎÔȟ Ánd 
                                                 
31

 “Only a Pittance Left,” 2. 
32

 “Mr. Jarvis must pay up,” 8. 
33

 “In the Court of Common Pleas. In the matter of…Colah,” 3. See also note 1. 
34

 “Court of Common Pleas…In the matter of…Colah” (23 October 1871), 6. 
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the court found that he had stolen most of the money. Jarvis had sent $3,000 ɀ a 

mere 3  percent of the original total ɀ ÔÏ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ×ÉÄÏ× ÁÎÄ ÃÈÉÌÄÒÅÎ ÉÎ "ÏÍÂÁÙ ÉÎ 

ÔÈÅ ÅÁÒÌÙ ÄÁÙÓȢ "Ù ÔÈÅ ÔÉÍÅ ÏÆ *ÁÒÖÉÓȭ ÔÒÉÁÌȟ ÔÈÅÙ ×ÅÒÅ ÎÅÁÒÌÙ ÄÅÓÔÉÔÕÔÅȢ 4ÈÅ ÃÏÕÒÔ 

ordered the errant clerk to pay approximately $76,000. The parties ultimately 

settled for $65,000.35 

4ÈÅ ÅØÐÌÏÉÔÁÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÅÓÔÁÔÅ ÂÙ Ô×Ï ÕÎÓÃÒÕÐÕÌÏÕÓ !ÍÅÒÉÃÁÎÓ ÎÅÖÅÒ 

×ÏÕÌÄ ÈÁÖÅ ÈÁÐÐÅÎÅÄ ÈÁÄ ÉÔ ÎÏÔ ÂÅÅÎ ÆÏÒ ÈÉÓ Ï×Î ÆÁÍÉÌÙȭÓ ÌÉÔÉÇÉÏÕÓ ÉÎ-fighting. 

Before the court decided to send Colah back to India with an exploitative stranger, 

#ÏÌÁÈȭÓ Ï×Î ÆÁÔÈÅÒ-in-law had come to New York to collect him. Framjee Dosabhoy 

#Ȣ 7ÁÄÉÁ ÁÒÒÉÖÅÄ ÉÎ .Å× 9ÏÒË ×ÉÔÈ ÐÏ×ÅÒ ÏÆ ÁÔÔÏÒÎÅÙ ÆÒÏÍ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ×ÉÆÅ (ÅÅÒÁÂÁÉȟ 

ȰÁÕÔÈÏÒÉÚÉÎÇ ÈÉÍ ÏÎ ÈÅr behalf to take charge of the person and property of the 

ÌÕÎÁÔÉÃ ÁÎÄ ÔÏ ÂÒÉÎÇ ÈÉÍ ÂÁÃË ÔÏ "ÏÍÂÁÙȢȱ #ÏÌÁÈ ÁÎÄ ÈÉÓ ÇÏÌÄ ÍÁÙ ÈÁÖÅ ÒÅÔÕÒÎÅÄ 

ÕÎÅÖÅÎÔÆÕÌÌÙ ÔÏ "ÏÍÂÁÙ ÂÙ ÔÈÉÓ ÒÏÕÔÅ ÂÕÔ ÆÏÒ ÔÈÅ ÉÎÔÅÒÖÅÎÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÂÒÏÔÈÅÒÓȢ 

Colah and his brothers had emerged from an inheritance suit on terrible terms. His 

ÂÒÏÔÈÅÒÓ ÐÒÏÂÁÂÌÙ ÒÅÇÁÒÄÅÄ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÉÎÓÁÎÉÔÙ ÁÓ ÁÎ ÏÐÐÏÒÔÕÎÉÔÙ ÔÏ ×ÉÎ ÂÁÃË ÓÏÍÅ ÏÆ 

the estate. They convinced the British Vice Consul in New York to oppose the father-

in-ÌÁ×ȭÓ ÁÐÐÌÉÃÁÔÉÏÎȟ ÁÒÇÕÉÎÇ ÔÈÁÔ Ȱ-ÒȢ 7ÁÄia was not a proper person with whom to 

ÅÎÔÒÕÓÔ ÅÉÔÈÅÒ ÔÈÅ ÐÅÒÓÏÎ ÏÒ ÔÈÅ ÐÒÏÐÅÒÔÙȢȱ36 They succeeded. Major Constable was 

ÔÈÅÎ ÁÂÌÅ ÔÏ ÁÒÇÕÅ ÔÈÁÔ ÔÈÅ ÍÏÎÅÙ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÂÅ ÓÁÆÅÓÔ ÕÎÄÅÒ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÕÒÔȭÓ ÃÏÎÔÒÏÌȢ (Å 

ÔÅÓÔÉÆÉÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ ȰÉÎ ÍÏÎÅÙ ÍÁÔÔÅÒÓ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÅÅÓ ÁÒÅ Á ÇÒÅÅdy people, that a prominent 

                                                 
35

 In the NYT, see “Mr. Jarvis must pay up” (24 August 1886), 8; “The Parsee Merchant’s Estate” 

(16 August 1889), 8; “Tracing Colah’s Estate. Nathaniel Jarvis will now have to account for 

$75,000” (30 October 1889), 3; “Nathaniel Jarvis must pay up” (26 December 1889), 8. On 

other accusations made against Jarvis, see “May Go to the Grand Jury” (28 August 1889), 2. 
36

 “Court of Common Pleas…In the matter of…Colah” (23 October 1871), 5. 
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trait in their character is avarice, and speaking from his observation and from 

[k]nowledge acquired by him while he was a resident among them, and speaking 

also with response to the circumstances under which the said Colah acquired his 

said property and his relations with his brothers on account thereof, he verily 

believes that the pecuniary interests of the said Colah will be abundantly promoted 

by retaining the property of said Colah during his life, or during his lunacy, in the 

ÃÕÓÔÏÄÙ ÏÆ ÔÈÉÓ #ÏÕÒÔȢȱ37 #ÏÎÓÔÁÂÌÅȭÓ ÔÅÓÔÉÍÏÎÙ ×ÁÓ ÓÅÌÆ-serving. In-fighting among 

Parsi families often led to the destruction of long-term relationships and to the 

creation of vulnerabilities that could be exploited by opportunists like the major and 

the court clerk. 

The Secunderabad litigation exhibited many of the same qualities. It arose 

from the breakdown of relations within a particular Parsi community rather than a 

single family. Like so many other protracted lawsuits between Parsis, it was a 

religious trust case. The case exemplified Parsi litigiousness at its most extreme: 

every adult Parsi male in Secunderabad was a party to the suit.38 The full case name 

alone occupied four pages: there were 130 appellants and 35 respondents.39 The 

suit also traveled on appeal through three levels of court until it reached the Privy 

Council in London. Other major Zoroastrian trust cases had been decided by the 

Privy Council or had stopped just short of it.40 But the Secunderabad case best 

                                                 
37

 “In the Court of Common Pleas. In the matter of…Colah,” 5. 
38

 “In the Privy Council. No. 10 of 1907….Case for the…Respondents,” 2 in Pestonji Jeevanji v. 

Chinoy JCPC case papers. 
39

 “In the Privy Council. No. 10 of 1907. On appeal from the Court of the Judicial Commissioner 

Hyderabad Assigned Districts,” 1–4 in Pestonji Jeevanji v. Chinoy JCPC case papers. 
40

 Although many people expected Petit v. Jijibhai to be appealed to the Privy Council, it was not. 

See “The Butterflies and the Light,” HP (27 December 1908), 17. The Udwada Iran Shah fire 
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illustrated the way in which an entire Parsi community could be divided through the 

experience of litigation. 

The Parsis of Secunderabad disagreed over whether to build a new dakhma 

close to their existing one. The dispute was about personalities more than theology. 

The legal question was this: had the land on which the towers old and new would 

stand been granted to the two brothers who had built the original tower of silence in 

1837?41 Or had it been granted to them for the use and benefit of the entire Parsi 

community, giving ownership to the entire community, including the priests? If the 

latter, victory went to the general Parsi community, which wanted to build a second 

tower. If the former, the descendants of the original brothers had the right to 

prevent further construction. 

The dirty laundry in the New York case had included explicit descriptions of 

"Ȣ "Ȣ #ÏÌÁÈȭÓ ÍÅÎÔÁÌ ÃÏÎÄÉÔÉÏÎȟ ÓÅØÕÁÌ ÂÅÈÁÖÉÏÒȟ ÁÎÄ ÐÈÙÓÉÃÁÌ ÁÉÌÍÅÎÔÓȟ ÁÌÏÎÇ ×ÉÔÈ ÔÈÅ 

family inheritance dispute. These private matters were documented in the court 

proceedings and were partially reported in the press. The Secunderabad case also 

revealed damaging information about Parsis. As plaintiffs, the community or 

Anjuman made an argument that could help win its case but that promulgated a 

negative characterization of Parsi customs generally. In other colonial contexts, 

                                                                                                                                                  
temple dispute was settled shortly before being appealed to the Privy Council. See Navroji M. 

Wadia v. Dastur Kharsedji Mancherji; UdvǕỈǕ, 5, 7, 11–12, 84, 87. See also Saklat v. Bella. 
41

 According to popular belief in the nineteenth century, individuals who financed the 

construction of dakhmas were often among the first to have their corpses consigned to them. “It 

is for this reason, that we find, that rich liberal Parsees of the older generations…though rich 

enough to build Towers at their own individual expenses, did not like, or were not allowed, to 

do so.” As a result, dakhma construction was usually a collective effort. The Secunderabad 

brothers evidently ignored this superstition. (“A Short Account of the Life of Ervad Tehmuras 

Dinshaw Anklesaria” in Anklesaria, Social Code, 29.) 
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scholars have observed the irresistible allure of colonial law when presented 

alongside other dispute resolution systems.42 Even colonized subjects who opposed 

the exposure of sensitive community information in the abstract found themselves 

drawn to the colonial courts, tempted by the possibility of winning a particular 

dispute. Immediate, individual interests often overrode long-term, collective ones. 

The net result was ÔÈÅ ÐÕÂÌÉÃ ÄÉÓÐÌÁÙ ÏÆ ÃÏÎÔÒÏÖÅÒÓÉÁÌ ȰÉÎÓÉÄÅȱ ÉÎÆÏÒÍÁÔÉÏÎȢ 

Many Zoroastrian trust suits of the early twentieth century put sensitive 

religious rituals in the spotlight. Parsis used nirang (Guj. ÎĂÒÁđÇ), the consecrated 

urine of the white bull, as a purifying agent for ingestion and external cleansing in 

religious ceremonies.43 Nirang was discussed in detail and ridiculed by the Parsi 

parties on one side of Saklat v. Bella.44 The nine-night purification ceremony known 

as barashnum was a major theme of inquiry during the Bombay evidence-collection 

phase of the same suit.45 This ceremony required the recipient, even if female, to be 

naked in front of male priests. In Petit v. Jijibhai, Justice Beaman had exclaimed that 

ÏÎÌÙ ÐÅÏÐÌÅ ȰÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÌÏ×ÅÓÔ ÓÔÁÇÅ ÏÆ ÄÅÖÅÌÏÐÍÅÎÔȱ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÁÇÒÅÅ ÔÏ ÕÎÄÅÒÇÏ ÓÕÃÈ Á 

rite.46 European observers characterized both nirang and barashnum as uncivilized, 

with Parsi reformists soon joining in. The Secunderabad case touched on a 

                                                 
42

 See, for instance, Stern, 114–37; Brian P. Owensby, Empire of Law and Indian Justice in 

Colonial Mexico (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2008). 
43

 Modi, Religious Ceremonies, 64–5. 
44

 See Sharafi, “Bella’s Case,” 272–5. 
45

 See ibid., 276–8. 
46

 Parsi Panchayat Case, xvi. 
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Zoroastrian ritual that was an even bigger target for European critics: the exposure 

of the dead to vultures in the towers of silence.47 

In the mid-nineteenth century, the Oxford professor of Sanskrit Monier 

Monier-Williams described the Zoroastrian death rites that he had partially 

observed in Bombay.48 The body of a dead Parsi was carried into the towers and 

prepared for exposure by nasasalars, the hereditary corpse bearers who were 

ritually polluted by their interaction with dead matter. 49 Nasasalars chained the 

ÃÏÒÐÓÅ ÔÏ ÏÎÅ ÃÉÒÃÌÅ ÏÆ ȰÏÐÅÎ ÓÔÏÎÅ ÃÏÆÆÉÎÓȱ ÌÉÎÉÎÇ ÔÈÅ ÏÕÔÅÒ ÅÄÇÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÔÏ×ÅÒȢ ! 

group of vultures swooped down on the body. Minutes later, only a skeleton 

remained. The nasasalars used tong-like instruments to transfer the bones into the 

ÔÏ×ÅÒȭÓ ÃÅÎÔÒÁÌ ÃÁÖÉÔÙȢ 4ÈÅÒÅȟ ȰÔÈÅ ÄÕÓÔ ÏÆ ×ÈÏÌÅ ÇÅÎÅÒÁÔÉÏÎÓ ÏÆ 0ÁÒÓÅÅÓ ÃÏÍÍÉÎÇÌÉÎÇ 

ɍ×ÁÓɎ ÌÅÆÔ ÕÎÄÉÓÔÕÒÂÅÄ ÆÏÒ ÃÅÎÔÕÒÉÅÓȢȱ50 

Monier-7ÉÌÌÉÁÍÓ ×ÁÓ ÉÎÉÔÉÁÌÌÙ ÄÉÓÇÕÓÔÅÄȢ 4ÈÅ ȰÒÅÖÏÌÔÉÎÇ ÓÉÇÈÔ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÇÏÒÇÅÄ 

ÖÕÌÔÕÒÅÓȱ ÍÁÄÅ ÈÉÍ ÔÕÒÎ ÈÉÓ ÂÁÃË ×ÉÔÈ ȰÉÌÌ-concealed abhorrenÃÅȢȱ "ÕÔ ÈÅ ÃÈÁÎÇÅÄ 

his mind on learning of the theological underpinnings of the practice ɀ a prohibition 

on polluting fire or earth with dead matter through cremation or burial. Being eaten 

by vultures was not so different from being eaten by worms, mused the professor. 

And he was clearly captivated by the collective and egalitarian nature of Zoroastrian 

ÄÅÁÔÈ ÒÉÔÅÓȢ !Ó ÈÉÓ ÇÕÉÄÅ ÅØÐÌÁÉÎÅÄȟ ȰHere in these five towers rest the bones of all 

the Parsees that have lived in Bombay for the last 200 years. We form a united body 

                                                 
47

 See Sharafi, “Bella’s Case,” 246, 275–6. 
48

 “The Towers of Silence,” TI (18 February 1876), 3. I thank James Jaffe for bringing this article 

to my attention. 
49

 See “Parsi Funerals,” TI (29 September 1926), 10. 
50

 Ibid. 
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in life, and we are united in death. Even our leader, Sir Jamsetjee, likes to feel that 

when he dies he will be reduced to perfect equality with the poorest and humblest 

ÏÆ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÅÅ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȢȱ51 Monier-7ÉÌÌÉÁÍÓȭ ÖÉÅ×Ó ×ÅÒÅ ÕÎÕÓÕÁÌ ÁÍÏÎÇ %ÕÒÏÐÅÁÎ 

observers. The nineteenth-century Florentine scholar Paolo Mantegazza wondered 

ÈÏ× 0ÁÒÓÉÓ ÃÏÕÌÄ ȰÏÂÓÅÒÖÅ ×ÉÔÈÏÕÔ ÈÏÒÒÏÒ ÔÈÏÓÅ ÆÏ×ÌÓ ÒÏÏÓÔÅÄ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÔÁÍÁÒÉÎÄ ÔÒÅÅÓ 

without thinking that they might be digesting the tender flesh of [the ParsiÓȭɎ own 

ÃÈÉÌÄȟ ÏÒ ÔÈÅ ÈÅÁÒÔ ÏÆ ɍÔÈÅÉÒɎ ÍÏÔÈÅÒȢȱ !ÎÇÅÌÏ $Å 'ÕÂÅÒÎÁÔÉÓȟ ÁÎÏÔÈÅÒ )ÔÁÌÉÁÎ ÓÃÈÏÌÁÒ 

ÁÎÄ ÔÒÁÖÅÌÅÒȟ ×ÁÓ ÒÅÐÕÌÓÅÄ ÂÙ ÔÈÅ ÉÄÅÁ ÔÈÁÔ ȰÁ ÐÁÒÔ ÏÆ ÙÏÕÒ ÂÌÏÏÄȟ ÏÆ ÙÏÕÒ ÆÌÅÓÈȟ ÏÆ 

your beloved forms may be ignobly lost in the voracious jaws of greedy beasts which 

ÓÈÁÌÌ ÓÏÏÎ ÄÉÇÅÓÔ ÔÈÅ ÉÎÆÁÍÏÕÓ ÍÅÁÌ ÐÅÒÃÈÅÄ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÒÏÏÆ ÏÆ ÙÏÕÒ Ï×Î ÈÏÕÓÅȢȱ52 At the 

ÂÅÇÉÎÎÉÎÇ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ Ô×ÅÎÔÉÅÔÈ ÃÅÎÔÕÒÙȟ 'ÅÏÒÇÅ "ÉÒÄ×ÏÏÄ ÄÅÓÃÒÉÂÅÄ ÔÈÅ ÔÏ×ÅÒÓ ÁÓ ȰÔÈÅ 

ÇÌÏÏÍÙ ÐÌÁÔÆÏÒÍÓȱ ×ÈÅÒÅ 0ÁÒÓÉÓ ÌÅÆÔ ÔÈÅÉÒ ÌÏÖÅÄ ÏÎÅÓȭ ÃÏÒÐÓÅÓ ȰÔÏ ÂÅ ÔÏÒÎ ÂÙ ÈÕÎÇÒÙ 

ÖÕÌÔÕÒÅÓȢȱ53 

Obliquely, the Secunderabad plaintiffs tried to harness this line of critique for 

their own benefit. They claimed that the construction of a new tower would be 

unsanitary. The view scientized the basic disgust with which many Europeans 

viewed exposure to vultures. It was a recurring argument in dakhma-related 

conflicts throughout the Parsi world.54 The plaintiffs extended the conclusion of the 

Sanitary Inspector of the Cantonment, a Mr. Hill, who fifteen years earlier had found 

                                                 
51

 Ibid. 
52

 Paolo Mantegazza and Angelo De Gubernatis in C. G. Cereti, “Prejudice vs Reality: 

Zoroastrians and Their Rituals as seen by two Nineteenth-century Italian Travellers” in 

Michael Stausberg, ed., Zoroastrian Rituals in Context (Leiden: Brill, 2004), 470–1. 
53

 George Birdwood, “Letter. The Phrase ‘Towers of Silence.’ From George Birdwood,” TL (8 

August 1905), 9. 
54

 On an 1886 conflict over sanitation and dakhma construction in Zanzibar, see Kased, 66–7. 
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the existing tower objectionable on the basis of sanitation. The existing tower sat on 

Á ȰÌÏÆÔÙ ÈÉÌÌȱ ÁÎÄ ÏÃÃÁÓÉÏÎÁÌÌÙ ÅÍÉÔÔÅÄ ȰÁ ÍÏÓÔ ÁÂÏÍÉÎÁÂÌÅ ÓÔÅÎÃÈ ÆÒÏÍ ÔÈÅ 

ÐÕÔÒÅÆÁÃÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ ÂÏÄÉÅÓȟȱ ÐÁÒÔÉÃÕÌÁÒÌÙ ×ÈÅÎ ÔÈÅ ×ÅÁÔÈÅÒ ×ÁÓ ÈÏÔ ÁÎÄ ÈÕÍÉÄȢ 4ÈÅ 

problem was that there were not enough vultures. Bombay did not have this 

ÄÉÆÆÉÃÕÌÔÙȢ 4ÈÅÒÅȟ ÖÕÌÔÕÒÅÓ ÃÏÕÌÄ ȰÓÔÒÉÐ ÏÆÆ ÔÈÅ ÓÏÆÔ ÐÁÒÔÓ ÉÎ ÌÅÓÓ ÔÈÁÎ Á ÍÉÎÕÔÅȟ ÌÅÁÖÉÎÇ 

ÔÈÅ ÈÁÒÄ ÂÏÎÅÓ ÔÏ ÔÁËÅ ÔÈÅÉÒ ÎÁÔÕÒÁÌ ÃÏÕÒÓÅ ÏÆ ÄÅÃÁÙȢȱ "ÕÔ ÔÈÅ 3ÅÃÕÎÄÅÒÁÂÁÄ ÁÒÅÁ 

suffered froÍ Á ÓÈÏÒÔÁÇÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÂÉÒÄÓȢ "ÕÉÌÄÉÎÇ Á ÓÅÃÏÎÄ ÔÏ×ÅÒ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÏÎÌÙ ÃÒÅÁÔÅ ȰÁ 

ÄÏÕÂÌÅ ÓÏÕÒÃÅ ÏÆ ÅÆÆÌÕÖÉÁȢȱ 7ÉÔÈ ÅÃÈÏÅÓ ÏÆ ÍÉÁÓÍÉÃ ÔÈÅÏÒÉÅÓ ÏÆ ÃÏÎÔÁÇÉÏÎȟ ÔÈÅ 

ÐÌÁÉÎÔÉÆÆÓ ×ÁÒÎÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ ÔÈÅÒÅ ×ÏÕÌÄ ȰÂÅ ÎÏ ÅÎÄ ÔÏ ÅÐÉÄÅÍÉÃÓ ÏÆ ÃÈÏÌÅÒÁ ÁÎÄ ÔÙÐÈÏÉÄ 

ÆÅÖÅÒȢȱ 4ÈÅÒÅ ×ÅÒÅ ÍÁÎÙ houses immediately below the site. Aiming squarely at 

British priorities, the plaintiffs also noted the military regiment stationed nearby. To 

make matters worse, the Parsi population of Secunderabad had increased rapidly in 

recent years and was producing a growing number of corpses. Although this fact 

could support the need for another tower, the plaintiffs used it to amplify the British 

ÍÉÌÉÔÁÒÙ ÃÏÎÃÅÒÎ ×ÉÔÈ ÄÉÓÅÁÓÅ ÇÅÎÅÒÁÌÌÙȡ ȰÔÈÅ #ÁÎÔÏÎÍÅÎÔ ÁÕÔÈÏÒÉÔÉÅÓ ×ÉÌÌ ÈÁÖÅ ÔÏ 

ÃÏÎÓÉÄÅÒ ÖÅÒÙ ÓÅÒÉÏÕÓÌÙ ȣ ÔÈÅ ÍÁÔÔÅÒ ÏÆ ÔÈÅÓÅ 4Ï×ÅÒÓȢȱ55 

The argument was ultimately peripheral. The Secunderabad plaintiffs won 

their case initially and before the Privy Council through a close textual 

interpretation of the original grants of land, not because building another tower was 

a bad idea. Nonetheless, the appearance of the sanitation argument spoke volumes 

about the interplay between intragroup litigation and external perceptions of the 

                                                 
55

 “No. 178. Exhibit 44. Petition of Cawaji Jivanji to the Cantonment Committee” (undated), 456–

7 in Pestonji Jeevanji v. Chinoy JCPC case papers. 
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group. The plaintiffs were trying to harness European disgust for Zoroastrian death 

rites in the service of their own immediate self-interest: victory in one particular 

ÄÉÓÐÕÔÅȢ )ÒÏÎÉÃÁÌÌÙȟ ÔÈÅ ÐÌÁÉÎÔÉÆÆÓȭ ÓÁÎÉÔÁÔÉÏÎ ÁÒÇÕÍÅÎÔ ×ÏÒËÅÄ ÁÇÁÉÎÓÔ ÔÈÅÉÒ Ï×Î 

long-term interests ɀ after all, they had created and controlled the first tower of 

silence in Secunderabad. And it damaged the collective long-term interests of Parsis 

in South Asia generally, confirming negative stereotypes of Zoroastrian rites. 

Externally, litigation among Parsis perpetuated negative images of Parsis 

before an audience of Europeans, Indians, and others. It promulgated the stereotype 

of the litigious Parsi. More specifically, these lawsuits revealed details about 

ÉÎÄÉÖÉÄÕÁÌ 0ÁÒÓÉÓȭ ÐÒÉÖÁÔÅ ÌÉÖÅÓȟ ÉÎÃÌÕÄÉÎÇ ÔÈÅÉÒ ÍÅÎÔÁÌ ÈÅÁÌÔÈȟ ÆÁÍÉÌÙ ÄÙÎÁÍÉÃÓȟ ÁÎÄ 

sexual relations. Collectively, Parsi trust suits subjected religious rituals to public 

scrutiny and ridicule. One side of the dispute usually succumbed to the temptation 

to repeat typically European critiques of Zoroastrian rites, believing that this would 

help them win.56 But even so, a legal phenomenon that was so destructive at the 

individual psychosocial level was also productive in larger political ways. 

Judicial Ethnography and the Parsi Legal Profession  

The density of judicial ethnography in Indian case law has gone underappreciated 

until recently.57 Even when not required to do so, colonial judges wrote opinions 

rich in ethnographically informed content that described the history, practices, and 

                                                 
56

 Many Parsi reformers took their cues from this tradition, rejecting Zoroastrian ritual practices 

like exposure to vultures and use of nirang. See, for instance, “Parsi Lady Baptized. Embraces 

the Christian Religion. Her Views about Zoroastrianism,” AI (4 October 1913), 6. 
57

 Recent work includes Shodhan, Question and “Caste”; Kasturi, 137–71. Ritu Birla’s Stages of 

Capital may arguably be understood as a legal history of the Marwari community, although it 

is not explicitly presented as such. 
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authority structures of Indian communities.58 The barrister and Advocate General 

Thomas StraÎÇÍÁÎ ÇÒÕÍÂÌÅÄ ÁÂÏÕÔ Á ÃÁÓÅ ÉÎ ×ÈÉÃÈ ȰÔÈÅ ÊÕÄÇÅȟ ÏÖÅÒÃÏÍÅ ÂÙ ÔÈÅ 

ÁÔÔÒÁÃÔÉÖÅÎÅÓÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÓÔÕÄÙȟ ÈÁÄ ÃÏÍÐÏÓÅÄ Á ÌÅÁÒÎÅÄ ÔÒÅÁÔÉÓÅ ÏÎ +ÈÏÔÓȱ ɉÔÈÅ 

community involved in the case), neglecting the statutory analysis on which the case 

turned.59 ,ÉËÅ ÔÈÅ ÓÔÁÔÅȭÓ ÍÏÒÅ explicitly ethnographic projects, judgments like these 

were governmental interpretations of Indian communities past and present.60 

As the ethnic composition of the legal profession transformed itself in the 

late nineteenth century, judicial ethnography changed with it. From the 1870s on, 

South Asian advocates like Nanabhai Haridas and Badruddin Tyabji became judges 

of the Bombay High Court.61 With this change in personnel came a profound 

intellectual turn. Judges continued to produce ethnographic accounts, but they no 

longer did so exclusively as European outsiders. South Asian judges began 

ÄÅÓÃÒÉÂÉÎÇ ÔÈÅÉÒ Ï×Î ÁÎÄ ÎÅÉÇÈÂÏÒÉÎÇ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÉÅÓȭ ÓÔÒÕÃÔÕÒÅÓ ÁÎÄ ÐÒÁÃÔÉÃÅÓȢ )Î ÓÏ 

doing, they reshaped the law governing these communities, often in ways that 

reflected their own values. 
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 For a sample, see Advocate General of Bombay at the relation of Arran Jacob Awaskar v. 
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By going into law, individual Parsis were not only pursuing a livelihood and a 

route for upward mobility. They were also representing their own community to the 

colonizer by crafting the official story that colonial law would tell about the Parsis. 

Parsi litigants often hired Parsi lawyers. In the Parsi Chief Matrimonial Court of 

Bombay, many suits were entirely Parsi-populated ɀ not only by Parsi litigants and 

jurors, but also by lawyers and the presiding judge. But the alignment of Parsi 

litigants, lawyers, and judges persisted even in the mainstream colonial courts.62 

Parsi lawyers and Zoroastrian trust suits were inseparable. Not only did 

these cases involve large sums of money, such that their lawyers would be paid well. 

These suits also turned on controversial points of principle. One of the best 

examples pertained to the trust case from Rangoon, Saklat v. BellaȢ "ÅÌÌÁȭÓ ÃÁÓÅ ÁÒÏÓÅ 

ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÔÉÎÙ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙ ÏÆ 2ÁÎÇÏÏÎȟ "ÒÉÔÉÓÈ "ÕÒÍÁȭÓ ÂÕÓÉÅÓÔ ÐÏÒÔ ÃÉÔÙȢ ! 

Rangoon court decided the case initially and on its first appeal.63 The second (and 

final) appeal was decided in London.64 Bombay was also involved as a site for the 

collection of evidence; the Chief Court of Lower Burma approved the creation of a 

judicial commission there. Judicial commissions were bodies established in other 

cities or countries to collect evidence, particularly oral testimony. They were time-
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consuming and expensive.65 The Bombay commission in Saklat v. Bella was a 

massive endeavor. There were only some 300 Parsis in Rangoon, whereas Bombay 

was the unofficial Parsi capital of British India and the world.66 What better place 

than Bombay to ask what it meant to be Parsi? The Bombay commission collected 

testimony from Parsi physicians and trustees, high priests and hereditary corpse 

bearers, scholars and salesmen.67 The result was a unique survey of sorts, asking the 

question: was being Parsi predominantly about race or religion?68 

"ÅÌÌÁȭÓ "ÏÍÂÁÙ ÃÏÍÍÉÓÓÉÏÎ ×ÁÓ ÍÁÎÁÇÅÄ ÂÙ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÌÁ×ÙÅÒÓ ÏÎ ÏÐÐÏÓÉÔÅ ÓÉÄÅÓ 

ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÎÖÅÒÓÉÏÎ ÄÅÂÁÔÅȢ %ÁÃÈ ×ÁÓ ÐÅÒÓÏÎÁÌÌÙ ÁÎÄ ÐÏÌÉÔÉÃÁÌÌÙ ÉÎÖÅÓÔÅÄ ÉÎ ÈÉÓ ÃÌÉÅÎÔȭÓ 

case. This was cause lawyering at its best.69 Representing Bella was the Parsi 

reformist D. M. Madon, a pleader involved with organizations like the Zoroastrian 

Conference that were dedicated to the reform and modernization of Parsi practices. 

He was both a member of and legal adviser to the reformist Iranian Association. 

4ÒÉÂÕÔÅÓ ÁÔ -ÁÄÏÎȭÓ ÄÅÁÔÈ ÄÅÓÃÒÉÂÅÄ ÈÉÍ ÁÓ ÓÕÆÆÅÒÉÎÇ ÔÈÒÏÕÇÈ ÙÅÁÒÓ ÏÆ ÁÂÕÓÅ ÁÎÄ 

vilification during debates over reform, humbly refusing to take credit although he 
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had borne many of the burdens.70 Madon was invÏÌÖÅÄ ×ÉÔÈ "ÅÌÌÁȭÓ ÃÁÓÅ ÂÅÙÏÎÄ ÔÈÅ 

Bombay commission. He had sent telegrams urging the high priest who would 

ÐÅÒÆÏÒÍ "ÅÌÌÁȭÓ ÉÎÉÔÉÁÔÉÏÎ ÔÏ ÃÁÒÒÙ ÏÕÔ ÔÈÅ ÃÅÒÅÍÏÎÙȢ 0ÁÒÓÉÓ ÉÎ 2ÁÎÇÏÏÎ ÓÕÅÄ 

ÏÒÔÈÏÄÏØ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÎÅ×ÓÐÁÐÅÒ ÅÄÉÔÏÒÓ ÉÎ "ÏÍÂÁÙ ÏÖÅÒ ÔÈÅ ÐÁÐÅÒÓȭ ÃÏÖÅÒÁÇÅ Ïf the Bella 

proceedings.71 In these spin-off libel suits, the lawyer working against the 

newspapers was Madon. He single-ÈÁÎÄÅÄÌÙ ÕÎÄÅÒÔÏÏË ÔÈÅ ȰÁÌÍÏÓÔ (ÅÒÃÕÌÅÁÎ ÔÁÓË 

of sifting a voluminous record of newspaper articles, of hunting out the proper 

material, of translating an enormous body of material into English, of arranging it, of 

ÄÒÁ×ÉÎÇ ÕÐ Á ÃÁÓÅ ÁÎÄ ÏÆ ÉÎÓÔÒÕÃÔÉÎÇ ÃÏÕÎÓÅÌȢȱ72 Both inside and outside the 

ÃÏÕÒÔÒÏÏÍȟ -ÁÄÏÎ ÔÏÏË ÅÖÅÒÙ ÏÐÐÏÒÔÕÎÉÔÙ ÔÏ ÓÕÐÐÏÒÔ "ÅÌÌÁȭÓ ÃÁÕÓÅȢ 

Against Bella was the formidable J. J. Vimadalal. The prominent solicitor was 

an orator and doyen of Parsi orthodoxy, as well as a prominent theosophist and 

devotee of the Zoroastrian mystical Ilm-e-Khshnoom movement. He was touted as 

ȰÔÈÅ ÌÅÁÄÅÒ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÏÒÔÈÏÄÏØ ÓÅÃÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȢȱ 6ÉÍÁÄÁÌÁÌȭÓ ÉÎÆÌÕÅÎÃÅ ÁÃÔÅÄ 

ÁÓ Á ȰÍÉÇÈÔÙ ÂÒÁËÅ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÈÅÁÄÌÏÎÇ ÃÏÕÒÓÅ ÏÆ ÇÏ-ahead reformers, who, if left to 

themselves unchecked and unhindered, would have proceeded from one excess to 

another, and precipitated the community headlong into the vortex of destÒÕÃÔÉÏÎȢȱ73 

He was involved in countless Parsi charities and organizations, particularly those 

with an orthodox or priestly bent (he came from a priestly family himself). The Parsi 

solicitor also wrote. Vimadalal adapted Euro-American writings on eugenics to the 
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South Asian and Parsi context. As early as 1910, he published eugenics-based works 

alluding to the dangers of allowing outsiders into the fold.74 Bella was simply the 

latest in a series of female outsiders to threaten Parsi racial purity. Vimadalal tried 

to discredit her Bombay witnesses with every tool at his disposal, including the race 

science of the day. 

Parsi clients did not always hire Parsi solicitors, and Parsi solicitors did not 

always engage Parsi advocates for court appearances. Yet Zoroastrian lawyers and 

clients were linked often enough to appear frequently together in the published case 

law.75 If these lawyers and litigants found each other through community channels, 

the other half of the picture was harder to track: how were Parsi judges assigned to 

Parsi trust suits? The mechanism that matched judges with cases was discretionary 

and confidential: the Chief Justice and his office made these decisions. Oral history 

ÓÕÇÇÅÓÔÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ Á ÃÁÎÄÉÄÁÔÅȭÓ ÅÔÈÎÏÒÅÌÉÇÉÏÕÓ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙ ×ÁÓ ÐÁÒÁÍÏÕÎÔ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ 

appointment of South Asian judges.76 Given that the colonial state cared about the 

community identity of its Indian judges, it might similarly have favored the referral 

of intracommunity cases to a judge from the same community. This was certainly 

the pattern for the first Parsi judge of the Bombay High Court, Dinshah Dhanjibhai 

Davar. Davar presided from 1906 until his death in 1916. During his decade on the 

bench, he decided most important suits between Parsis in Bombay. For the colonial 

state, the channeling of community-specific case law was strategic in several ways. It 
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allowed the administration to deflect criticism for the outcomes of such cases, 

putting responsibility on the shoulders of the judge himself. At the same time, it 

advertised the fact that South Asians ɀ albeit those vetted for loyalty to British rule ɀ 

were represented at high levels within the colonial state. For the community in 

question, the gains were also significant. Like the Parsi matrimonial jury, the match 

of Parsi cases with Parsi judges may have been a reward for collective loyalty to 

British rule. And, like the jury, it created a bubble of group autonomy within the 

colonial legal system. 

Davar and Zoroastrian Trusts  

Nowhere was the intragroup power of South Asian judges more visible than in the 

career of D. D. Davar. He was aptly named. Davar referred to a category of high 

judicial officials in Achaemenian Persia. His surname was singularly appropriate for 

the first Parsi judge of the Bombay High Court, a post to which he was elevated on 

27 October 1906.77 Davar was trained as a barrister at the Middle Temple in 

London.78 He made a name for himself as a formidable cross-examiner in the Small 

Causes Court and the Police Court of Bombay.79 As a judge, he was fierce and 

intimidating. 80 His independence of mind and forceful personality combined with a 

loyalty to British rule that grew as his career advanced. Davar was best known for 
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his unusually harsh 1908 sentencing of the nationalist leader, Bal Gangadhar Tilak. 

After a special jury found Tilak guilty of seditious libel for his writings against 

British rule, Davar imposed a six-year sentence of transportation and a Rs 1,000 

ÆÉÎÅȢ 4ÉÌÁËȭÓ ÒÅÑÕÅÓÔ ÔÏ ÁÐÐÅÁÌ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ 0ÒÉÖÙ #ÏÕÎÃÉÌ was rejected.81 He was sent to a 

prison settlement in Mandalay, Burma.82 $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÓÅÎÔÅÎÃÅ ÁÎÄ ÃÈÁÒÁÃÔÅÒÉÚÁÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ 

4ÉÌÁËȭÓ ÍÉÎÄ ÁÓ ȰÄÉÓÅÁÓÅÄ ÁÎÄ ÐÅÒÖÅÒÔÅÄȱ ÉÎÖÉÔÅÄ ÐÕÂÌÉÃ ÃÒÉÔÉÃÉÓÍ ÁÎÄ ÓÕÒÐÒÉÓÅȡ 

$ÁÖÁÒ ÈÁÄ ÂÅÅÎ ÏÎÅ ÏÆ 4ÉÌÁËȭÓ Ï×Î ÌÁ×ÙÅÒÓ ÉÎ Á ÓÉÍÉÌÁÒ ÃÁÓÅ Á Äecade earlier.83 Even 

$ÁÖÁÒȭÓ Ï×Î ÓÏÎȟ ÔÈÅ ÂÁÒÒÉÓÔÅÒ ÁÎÄ ÆÕÔÕÒÅ ÊÕÄÇÅ *Ȣ $Ȣ $ÁÖÁÒȟ ÒÅÆÕÓÅÄ ÔÏ ÓÐÅÁË ÔÏ ÈÉÓ 

father for a period after the Tilak sentence.84 When Gandhi received a similar six-

year sentence in an Ahmedabad court in 1922, the judge said he was simply 

following the Tilak precedent.85 

Davar was not only forceful in his disapproval of the extremist brand of 

nationalist activity. He was also outspoken in his views on the Zoroastrian religion.86 

As a witness in a 1915 defamation case between Parsi organizations, he described 

his position on a range of controversies over religious reform. His views were 

orthodox on every issue. He regarded the proposal to curtail and simplify death 

ÃÏÍÍÅÍÏÒÁÔÉÏÎ ÃÅÒÅÍÏÎÉÅÓ ÁÓ ȰÁÎ ÉÎÓÕÌÔ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÄÅÁÄȱ ÁÎÄ ȰÅØÔÒÅÍÅÌÙ ÉÒÒÅÌÉÇious 
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ÁÎÄ ÏÆÆÅÎÓÉÖÅȢȱ 4ÈÅ ÉÄÅÁ ÏÆ ÒÅÆÏÒÍÉÎÇ ÔÈÅ :ÏÒÏÁÓÔÒÉÁÎ ÃÁÌÅÎÄÁÒ ×ÁÓ Á ȰÃÈÉÌÄÉÓÈ 

ÍÁÔÔÅÒȱ ÔÈÁÔ ÈÁÄ ÂÅÅÎ ȰÌÁÕÇÈÅÄ ÏÕÔȢȱ #ÈÁÎÇÉÎÇ ÔÈÅ ÌÁÎÇÕÁÇÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÐÒÁÙÅÒÓ ÆÒÏÍ 

ÁÒÃÈÁÉÃ 0ÅÒÓÉÁÎ ÌÁÎÇÕÁÇÅÓ ÔÏ 'ÕÊÁÒÁÔÉ ×ÁÓ ÉÍÐÒÁÃÔÉÃÁÂÌÅȢ Ȱ.ÏÂÏÄÙ ÔÏÏË ÉÔ ÓÅÒÉÏÕÓÌÙȟȱ 

scoffed Davar. Similarly, limiting offerings of sandalwood to the sacred fire would 

ÏÎÌÙ ÃÒÅÁÔÅ ÒÅÓÅÎÔÍÅÎÔȢ 2ÅÆÏÒÍÉÓÔÓ ÃÏÎÓÉÄÅÒÅÄ ÅØÃÅÓÓ ÏÆÆÅÒÉÎÇÓ Á ȰÓÕÐÅÒÓÔÉÔÉÏÕÓ 

ÂÅÌÉÅÆȱ ÁÎÄ Á ×ÁÓÔÅ ÏÆ ÍÏÎÅÙȟ ÂÕÔ $ÁÖÁÒ ÄÉÓÁÇÒÅÅÄȢ (Å ÁÌÓÏ ÆÅÌÔ ÔÈÁÔ ÔÈÅ ÓÕÇÇÅÓÔÉÏÎ ÔÏ 

cut down ghambars or community feasts would be opposed by those people 

(particularly the poor) who were regularly fed at these events.87 Davar became 

increasingly orthodox over the course of his adult life. In 1897, he supported the 

invalidation of trusts funding Zoroastrian death commemoration ceremonies.88 A 

decade later, it was his own ruling that protected these trusts, an episode explored 

shÏÒÔÌÙȢ (Å ÔÅÓÔÉÆÉÅÄ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ρωρυ ÌÉÂÅÌ ÃÁÓÅ ÔÈÁÔ ÔÈÅ ÃÅÒÅÍÏÎÙ Ȱ×ÁÓ Á ÐÏÒÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ 

:ÏÒÏÁÓÔÒÉÁÎ ÒÉÔÕÁÌ ×ÈÉÃÈ ÍÕÓÔ ÂÅ ÏÂÓÅÒÖÅÄ ÁÎÄ ×ÁÓ ÂÉÎÄÉÎÇ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȢȱ89 

Similarly, at the beginning of Petit v. Jijibhai, Davar was open to the idea of 

allowing ethnic outsiders to convert to Zoroastrianism and to benefit from Parsi 

ÔÒÕÓÔÓȢ (Å ÅÖÅÎ ÅÎÃÏÕÒÁÇÅÄ ÔÈÅ ÄÅÆÅÎÄÁÎÔÓȭ ÌÁ×ÙÅÒÓ ÔÏ ÁÃÃÅÐÔ ÃÏÍÐÒÏÍÉÓÅ ÔÅÒÍÓ 

that he and Justice Beaman had drafted (Figure 6.1). It was only in the later phase of 

the case that Davar changed his mind, turning toward orthodoxy and opposing the 

idea of conversion completely.90 Davar admitted to the court in 1915 that he smoked 

ÁÎÄ Ȱ×ÅÎÔ ÂÁÒÅÈÅÁÄÅÄȟȱ ÎÅÉÔÈÅÒ ÏÆ ×ÈÉÃÈ ÁÎ ÏÒÔÈÏÄÏØ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÍÁÎ was supposed to 

do. Overlooking this lapse, images of Davar from the period showed him with the 
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ÔÒÁÄÉÔÉÏÎÁÌ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÍÁÎȭÓ ÈÁÔ ËÎÏ×Î ÁÓ Á paghri (Guj. ÐàÇÈṳĂɊ (Figure 6.2). On the 

bench, the judicial dress code of the era required him to wear a heavy, horse-hair 

wig.91 

Figure 6.1 

 “On which track??? The Parsee Punchayet Funds and Juddin case … has been postponed … to allow the 

Trustees … to lay before [the community] the suggested compromise … ” 

Source: Hindi Punch (hereafter HP) (15 March 1908), 10. Courtesy of the British Library SV576. 

 

 

                                                 
91

 For an image, see Darukhanawala, Parsi Lustre, I: 149. Davar’s wig has been preserved at the 

Bombay High Court. See Mehrotra and Dwivedi, 128. 



28 

 

 

 

Figure 6.2 

“Mr. Punch’s Fancy Portrait” of Justice D. D. Davar in 

everyday dress. 

Source: HP (7 June 1908), 12. Courtesy of the British 

Library SV576. 

 

Davar was a leader of the orthodox 

camp. By popular accounts, he would take 

the long route home after presiding over 

Petit v. Jijibhai to greet crowds of 

supporters in orthodox neighborhoods.92 

"ÏÏËÓ ÂÙ ÓÙÍÐÁÔÈÉÚÅÒÓ ÐÒÏÃÌÁÉÍÅÄ ÈÉÍ ȰÁ 

ÔÒÕÅ 0ÁÒÓÅÅ (ÅÒÏȱ ÆÏÒ ÓÁÖÉÎÇ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÉÓ 

from ȰÒÁÃÉÁÌ ÄÅÇÅÎÅÒÁÔÉÏÎ ÁÎÄ ÅØÔÉÎÃÔÉÏÎȱ 

through his decision in Petit.93 After his 

death in 1916, Hindi Punch commented that 

ÔÈÅ ȰÂÅÓÔ ÏÒÔÈÏÄÏØ ÓÅÃÔÉÏÎȱ ÈÁÄ ÌÏÓÔ ÉÔÓ 

Ȱ$ÉÎ-ÓÈÁÈȢȱ 4ÈÅ ×ÅÅËÌÙ ×ÁÓ ÐÕÎÎÉÎÇ ÏÎ $ÉÎÓÈÁÈ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÆÉÒÓÔ ÎÁÍÅ ÔÏ ÉÍÐÌÙ ÔÈÁÔ ÈÅ 

was king (Pers. ÓÈàÈɊ of the faith (Pers. ÄĂÎɊ. The orthodox continued to proclaim 
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$ÁÖÁÒ ȰÁ ÐÉÌÌÁÒ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÆÁÉÔÈȟ ÔÈÅ ÐÒÅÓÅÒÖÅÒ ÁÎÄ ÐÒÏÔÅÃÔÏÒ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÕÎÉÔÙ ÁÎÄ ÓÏÌÉÄÁÒÉÔÙ ÏÆ 

ÔÈÅ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȟ ×ÈÉÃÈȟ ÁÌÁÓȦ ÈÁÓ ÓÐÌÉÔ ÕÐ ÉÎÔÏ Ô×Ï ÂÉÔÔÅÒ ÐÁÒÔÉÅÓȢȱ94 

Davar muted neither his strong personality nor his religious orthodoxy in the 

courtroom. On the bench, he drew on his knowledge of Parsi life, doubting 

representations placed before him if they contradicted his own personal 

knowledge.95 His judgments also favored religiously orthodox outcomes.96 The 

leading treatise on the 1865 Parsi matrimonial and inheritance legislation was 

ÄÅÄÉÃÁÔÅÄ ÔÏ $ÁÖÁÒȟ Ȱ×ÈÏÓÅ ÚÅÁÌ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÃÁÕÓÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ :ÏÒÏÁÓÔÒÉÁÎ ÒÅÌÉÇÉÏÎ ×ÉÌÌ ÁÌ×ÁÙÓ 

be gratefully remembered by his co-ÒÅÌÉÇÉÏÎÉÓÔÓȢȱ97 4ÈÅ ÊÕÄÇÅȭÓ ÏÒÔÈÏÄÏØ ÂÉÏÇÒÁÐÈÅÒȟ 

-Ȣ (Ȣ *àÇÏĢȟ ÒÅÐÅÁÔÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ $ÁÖÁÒ ÈÁÄ ÄÏÎÅ Á ÇÒÅÁÔ ÓÅÒÖÉÃÅ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙ ÂÙ 

ÁÃÃÅÐÔÉÎÇ Á ÊÕÄÇÅÓÈÉÐȡ ÔÈÅ ÍÏÖÅ ÅÎÓÕÒÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ ÈÉÓ Ï×Î ÐÅÏÐÌÅȭÓ ÍÁÔÔÅÒÓ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÂÅ 

handled properly. In becoming a judge, Davar had accepted a significant drop in 

ÉÎÃÏÍÅ ÂÙ ÇÉÖÉÎÇ ÕÐ ÈÉÓ ÌÕÃÒÁÔÉÖÅ ÂÁÒÒÉÓÔÅÒȭÓ ÐÒÁÃÔÉÃÅȢ (Å ÈÁÄ ÄÏÎÅ ÓÏȟ *àÇÏĢ ÉÍÐÌÉÅÄȟ 

because he recognized the importance for the community of having a Parsi on the 

bench.98 

Some judges in colonial India refused to make public addresses outside of 

court or even to read newspapers or socialize widely.99 Figures like M. R. Sausse, the 

first Chief Justice of Bombay, aimed for the ideal of the objective and disconnected 
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judge.100 This type of judge tried to minimize his own prior knowledge of the people 

and issues appearing in his courtroom. The ideal was a culturally rooted one. In 

many South Asian systems of dispute resolution, adjudicators were supposed to 

bring some knowledge of the social setting to the dispute.101 The foundational 

concept in panchayat-based adjudication during the early colonial period in the 

Bombay Presidency, for instance, was to have an equal number of adjudicators 

chosen by each side. Fairness meant a balanced process of selecting the judges, not 

judicial ignorance of the controversy itself.102 By contrast, the rule of law ideal 

required that decision makers have no connection to the parties or their social 

worlds. Justice in many non-state systems meant maximizing contextual information 

about the conflict, permitting the judges to both decide the case and bring in a 

certain amount of evidence in the form of personal knowledge about the 

background context.103 Justice in the rule of law universe meant a different notion of 

fairness ɀ one entailing a carefully managed lack of information. Each model of 

judgeship had its own hazards. If the disconnected judge was wholly ignorant of the 

social setting, he could be vulnerable to manipulation.104 But, equally, the connected 

ÊÕÄÇÅȭÓ ÓÏÃÉÏÃÕÌÔÕÒÁÌ ËÎÏ×ÌÅÄÇÅ ÃÏÕÌÄ ÂÌÕÒ ÉÎÔÏ ÂÉÁÓ. 
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The project of empire gained mileage from the model of the disconnected 

ÊÕÄÇÅȢ 2ÕÌÅ ÏÆ ÌÁ× ÖÁÌÕÅÓ ÔÈÒÅÁÔÅÎÅÄ ÔÏ ÔÕÒÎ %ÕÒÏÐÅÁÎ ÊÕÄÇÅÓȭ ÉÇÎÏÒÁÎÃÅ ÏÆ ÌÏÃÁÌ 

languages and cultures into a perceived asset.105 4ÈÅÓÅ ÊÕÄÇÅÓȭ ÄÉÓÔÁÎÃÅ ÆÒÏÍ ÔÈÅ 

colonized population removed them from the intrigue and influence of factions 

within that population, enabling them to deliver fair and objective decisions. Or so 

the argument went. Spreading the rule of law was a classic justification for British 

rule.106 The ideal of judicial distance was an important plank within the rule of law 

agenda. Mithi Mukhjerjee has documented the power of the ideal in India, applying 

it not just to individual judges, but also to courts. The Privy Council in faraway 

London embodied the figure of the objective and distant imperial adjudicator.107 In 

ÔÈÅ ×ÏÒÄÓ ÏÆ ÏÎÅ ÊÕÄÇÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÁÔ ÃÏÕÒÔȟ Ȱ×Å ÓÉÔ ÔÈÅÒÅȟ ÐÅÒÆÅÃÔÌÙ ÉÍÐÁÒÔÉÁÌȠ ×Å ÈÁÖÅ ÎÏ 

ÐÒÅÊÕÄÉÃÅÓȟ ÅÉÔÈÅÒ ÔÈÅÏÌÏÇÉÃÁÌ ÏÒ ÏÔÈÅÒ×ÉÓÅȢȱ108 Non-European judges, such as the 

orthodox Parsi Davar and his Hindu reformist colleague N. G. Chandavarkar lived a 

different ideal. They were embedded in the social life of their communities.109 They 

appreciated the subtleties of South Asian languages, religions, and cultures. They 

                                                 
105

 See Chapter 5 at note 57. 
106

 See, for instance, Frederick Pollock, English Opportunities and Duties in the Historical and 

Comparative Study of Law (London: Macmillan, 1883), 20; William Wordsworth in 

Jeejeebhoy, 353 at note; Letter from E. S. Symes, Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, British 

Burma to the Secretary to the Government of India, Foreign Department (Rangoon, 16 October 

1884), 3 in A. J. S. White Collection (ICS Burma, 1922–38), file 10, No. 1610 (MSS Eur. 

E356) (APAC). On rule of law values, see A. V. Dicey, Introduction to the Study of the Law of 

the Constitution (London: Macmillan, 1889), 189–90; Edward Jenks, The Government of the 

British Empire (Boston: Little, Brown and Co., 1919), 35; Rudolph and Rudolph, Modernity, 

253.  
107

 Mukherjee argues that newly independent India continued to project that role on to 

international bodies like the United Nations. See Mithi Mukherjee, India in the Shadows of 

Empire: A Legal and Political History, 1774ï1950 (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010). 
108

 Haldane, 153. 
109

 Both spoke extrajudicially often. See, for instance, Davar in Jeejeebhoy, 315 at note; Davar, 

Hints; L. V. Kaikini, ed., The Speeches and Writings of Sir Narayen G. Chandavarkar, Kt. 

(Bombay: Manoranjak Grantha Prasarak Mandali, 1911). 



32 

had the local knowledge, and they used it ɀ at times, in the service of their own 

vision of community identity. 

In their simplest form, trusts were legal devices that required one person, the 

trustee, to control property on behalf of and for the benefit of another, the 

beneficiary.110 By separating the enjoyment of property from its management, trusts 

helped provide for the vulnerable or those incapable of preserving the property in 

order to benefit from it. Trusts could be private, in which case they would be set up 

for the benefit of individuals or famiÌÉÅÓ ȰÆÏÒ ÐÒÉÖÁÔÅ ÃÏÎÖÅÎÉÅÎÃÅ ÁÎÄ ÓÕÐÐÏÒÔȢȱ 

There were also public trusts, created for the benefit of the public or a significant 

subsection of it.111 The latter, which were also known as charitable trusts, were 

governed by a different set of legal rules. Charitable trusts could be created to last 

indefinitely, for instance, unlike private trusts, which could not exist for longer than 

twenty-one years after the death of a particular person (or persons) living at the 

time the trust came into being. Charitable trusts were also tax-exempt and were 

supervised closely by legal authorities like the Attorney General and judiciary.112 

The law of religious endowments was of ambiguous taxonomy during the Raj. 

As a subspecies of trust law (itself distinct from the personal law system), the law of 

religious endowments was a curious hybrid of personal and territorial law that 
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leaned toward the latter.113 Particular group-specific rules developed for Islamic 

wakfs, Hindu religious endowments, and trusts governing Sikh gurdwaras.114 

Nonetheless, the principles of English and Indian territorial trust law continued to 

subtend all religious endowments, regardless of religious affiliation.115 Equally, 

ÔÒÅÁÔÉÓÅ ÁÕÔÈÏÒÓ ÐÅÐÐÅÒÅÄ ÔÈÅÉÒ ÄÉÓÃÕÓÓÉÏÎ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÇÅÎÅÒÁÌ ÐÒÉÎÃÉÐÌÅÓ ÏÆ )ÎÄÉÁȭÓ 

charitable trust law with illustrations from the case law on both Hindu and Muslim 

religious endowments together, in distinction to the much clearer boundaries placed 

between Hindu, Muslim, and other bodies of family law.116 In family law, the 

religiously neutral body of law created by the Special Marriages Acts was a 

latecomer and always a peripheral addition to the collection of the various bodies of 

religiously inspired law. In trust law, the relationship was the reverse: various 

carve-outs (mostly legislated) for particular religious groups remained rooted in a 

substrate of English trust law principles. The trust law that applied to Parsi 

charitable trusts remained territorial during the colonial period. Because the content 

of these trusts was often religious, trust law became a leading site for the production 

ÏÆ ÊÕÄÉÃÉÁÌ ÅÔÈÎÏÇÒÁÐÈÙ ÁÂÏÕÔ )ÎÄÉÁȭÓ ÍÁÎÙ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÉÅÓȢ #ÏÌÏÎÉÁÌ ÃÁÓÅ ÌÁ× ×ÁÓ ÒÉÃÈ 

in disputes among trustees of temples and other religious bodies.117 $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ 0ÁÒÓÉ 
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trust cases were just one chapter in a broader history of trustlike  devices and 

colonized peoples across the British Empire.118 

$ÁÖÁÒ ÓÁ× ÍÏÒÅ ÔÈÁÎ ÔÈÅ ÁÖÅÒÁÇÅ ÊÕÄÇÅȭÓ ÓÈÁÒÅ ÏÆ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÔÒÕÓÔ ÌÉÔÉÇÁÔÉÏÎȢ )Ô ×ÁÓ 

as if Parsi disputants had been saving up their trust suits, waiting for a Parsi to 

appear on the High Court bench. Davar delivered his two most significant religious 

trust suits in Jamshedji Cursetjee Tarachand v. Soonabai (on death commemoration 

ceremonies) and Petit v. Jijibhai (on juddin ÁÄÍÉÓÓÉÏÎɊȢ "ÏÔÈ ÌÁÎÄÅÄ ÉÎ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÃÏÕÒÔ 

soon after his appointment in 1906. Both were highly publicized among Parsis and 

ÂÅÙÏÎÄȢ !ÎÄ ÂÏÔÈ ÒÅÖÅÁÌÅÄ ÔÈÅ ÐÏ×ÅÒ ÏÆ Á ÊÕÄÇÅ ÉÎ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÐÏÓÉÔÉÏÎ ÔÏ ×ÒÉÔÅ ÔÈÅ 

judicial ethnography of his own community. In so doing, Davar gave his vision of 

community identity the force of law.  

Before and beyond big cases like these, Davar was busy with the daily 

business of administering Parsi trusts. These trusts often combined strictly religious 

purposes (like funding religious ceremonies) with other philanthropic efforts like 

education, poor relief, and medical care. All fell under the banner of charitable 

trusts. Parsi trusts of this kind required judicial approval at many points. For the 

appointment of a new trustee or any expenditure of trust funds that strayed from 

the literal purposes of the trust, judicial approval was often required. Trustees came 

to court asking for clarification on what they could and could not do, sometimes 

requesting changes to the original trust terms themselves. In one 1913 case, Davar 

                                                 
118

 See Birla, Stages, 67–139; Kozlowski; Powers; Adam Hofri-Winogradow, “Zionist Settlers 

and the English Private Trust in Mandate Palestine,” LHR 30:3 (2012), 813–64; Nurfadzilah 

Yahaya, “Courting Jurisdictions: Colonial Administration of Islamic Law pertaining to Arabs 

in the British Straits Settlements and the Netherlands East Indies, 1860–1941” (PhD 

dissertation, Princeton University, 2012), 164–203. 



35 

ÄÅÌÅÔÅÄ ÔÈÅ ÔÒÕÓÔ ÔÅÒÍ ÔÈÁÔ ÐÒÅÖÅÎÔÅÄ ÓÃÈÏÏÌÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÉ 'ÉÒÌÓȭ 3ÃÈÏÏÌ !ÓÓÏÃÉÁÔÉÏÎ 

from teaching in English. Religious education was part of the curriculum of these 

schools.119 His role in the everyday administration of Parsi trusts also had a major 

effect on the distribution of trust-owned real estate in Bombay. In 1909, he 

approved the sale of land held by the Bombay Parsi Panchayat near the towers of 

silence, for instance.120 He also shaped the purposes for which trust-held real estate 

would be used. In 1912, Davar approved the construction of chawl housing for poor 

Parsis by the N. M. Wadia Trust.121 Perhaps because of this major housing project, he 

diverted funds the following year from another Parsi trust ɀ from the proposed 

construction of more subsidized housing to the job of covering the everyday 

expenses of the Bomanji Petit Parsi General Hospital. Both options were presented 

by the parties to the 1913 case. It was Davar who made the choice.122 

He was not overly constrained by a sense of judicial cautiousness. Like judges 

in so many other settings, Davar used legal doctrines as vehicles that would take 

him to his desired destination. At times, he applied opposite doctrinal approaches to 

similar fact patterns. Two contrasting trust administration matters that came to 

Davar in 1907 made this point nicely. In both, wealthy Parsis had left money to carry 

out charitable and religious projects for Parsis. It was allegedly impossible to follow 

their w ishes because circumstances had changed since the time when the wills were 
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written. A judge could approve the use of the money for a different charitable 

purpose. The determination of impossibility was for Davar to decide. 

In the first case, a deceased Parsi named E. R. Soonawalla had donated a large 

piece of land in the Bombay neighborhood of Mahim. He had wanted an agiary (Guj. 

ÁÇĂàÒĂɊ, a type of fire temple, to be built in honor of his dead wife, Soonabai. Two 

trustees came to cÏÕÒÔ ÁÒÇÕÉÎÇ ÔÈÁÔ 3ÏÏÎÁÂÁÉȭÓ agiary would be impossible to build. 

The population of Parsis in Mahim had fallen too low to make the project viable: 

there were now just fifty families in the area. For these trustees, impossible meant 

impracticable. Judges haÄ ÔÏ ÂÁÌÁÎÃÅ ÆÉÄÅÌÉÔÙ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÔÅÓÔÁÔÏÒȭÓ ×ÉÓÈÅÓ ÁÇÁÉÎÓÔ ÔÈÅ ÂÅÓÔ 

interests of the current population. The two trustees asked Davar to allow them 

instead to combine the funds with another fund left by the settlor; the second fund 

had been created to build a Parsi community hall. Davar refused. He adhered to the 

classic idea of upholding the intentions of the settlor, staying true to the desires 

expressed in the original text. Incidentally ɀ and more to the point ɀ he felt that it 

would be good to build a fire temple in Mahim, where there was currently none. He 

ÄÏÕÂÔÅÄ ÔÈÅ ÆÁÃÔÓ ÐÒÅÓÅÎÔÅÄ ÔÏ ÈÉÍȢ /ÎÌÙ ÆÉÆÔÙ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÆÁÍÉÌÉÅÓ ÉÎ -ÁÈÉÍȩ Ȱ4ÈÉÓ ) ÔÈÉÎË 

ÃÁÎ ÈÁÒÄÌÙ ÂÅ ÁÃÃÕÒÁÔÅȢȱ123 The personal knowledge of this socially embedded judge 

hovered over every fact ÐÒÅÓÅÎÔÅÄ ÂÙ ÔÈÅ ÔÒÕÓÔÅÅÓȭ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÁÄÖÏÃÁÔÅȢ 3ÈÏ×ÉÎÇ ÇÒÅÁÔ 

ÃÏÎÃÅÒÎ ÔÈÁÔ ÔÈÅ ÓÅÔÔÌÏÒÓȭ ÉÎÔÅÎÔÉÏÎÓ ÂÅ ÐÒÏÔÅÃÔÅÄȟ $ÁÖÁÒ ÏÒÄÅÒÅÄ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÎÓÔÒÕÃÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ 

a new fire temple. In this situation, literalist legal interpretation dovetailed with 

orthodox Parsi values. 
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Five months later, Davar came to the opposite conclusion in a similar case. A 

wealthy Parsi merchant named Hormusji Framji Warden had died in 1885, leaving 

money to build a community hall for Parsi marriages and dinners. The trustees came 

to Davar with the same impossibility argument: too many of these halls had been 

built since Warden wrote his will. Could the money instead be used to build an 

operating theater for Parsis in the Parsi General Hospital? This time, Davar agreed. 

In a forty-three-page unreported opinion, he explained why he was using the 

equitable cy-près doctrine to divert the money to another charitable purpose.124 Cy-

prèsȟ ÆÒÏÍ ÔÈÅ ÏÌÄ ÌÅÇÁÌ &ÒÅÎÃÈ ÆÏÒ ȰÎÅÁÒ ÈÅÒÅȟȱ ÁÌÌÏ×ÅÄ ÊÕÄÇÅÓ ÔÏ ÁÕÔÈÏÒÉÚÅ ÔÈÅ ÕÓÅ ÏÆ 

trust funds for a purpose similar to but dÉÆÆÅÒÅÎÔ ÆÒÏÍ ÔÈÅ ÓÅÔÔÌÏÒȭÓ ÏÒÉÇÉÎÁÌ ÐÕÒÐÏÓÅ 

×ÈÅÎ ÔÈÁÔ ÐÕÒÐÏÓÅ ×ÁÓ ȰÉÍÐÏÓÓÉÂÌÅȢȱ125 Cy-près preserved the validity of the trust 

and responded to the present needs of the recipient community. It paid less heed to 

the intentions of the settlor. Sterner, more traditional judges would either require 

the original purpose to be followed or invalidate the term (or trust) entirely. In the 

7ÁÒÄÅÎ ÃÁÓÅȟ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÁÐÐÒÏÖÁÌ ÆÏÒ ÔÈÅ ÁÌÔÅÒÎÁÔÉÖÅ ÓÃÈÅÍÅ ÈÉÎÇÅÄ ÏÎ ÈÉÓ ÌÏÏÓÅ 

ÄÅÆÉÎÉÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ×ÏÒÄ ȰÉÍÐÏÓÓÉÂÌÅȢȱ 4Ï ÕÓÅ cy-près, follow ing ÔÈÅ ÓÅÔÔÌÏÒȭÓ ×ÉÓÈÅÓ 

had to be impossible. This timeȟ $ÁÖÁÒ ÃÌÁÉÍÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ ȰÉÍÐÏÓÓÉÂÌÅȱ ÄÉÄ ÎÏÔ ÍÅÁÎ 

physically impossible, but simply not possible under current circumstances ɀ or 

even unsuitable or impracticable.126 Without a word about his narrower, more 
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traditional approach in the earlier Mahim case, he went through a long line of cases 

that reflected a generous recent use of cy-près.127 Reading the Warden and 

Soonawalla decisions together, Davar looked less driven by legal doctrine than by 

his own views of current community needs. 

Davar had consulted the acting Attorney General of Bombay, a Briton named 

E. B. Raikes, on the Warden medical proposal. Raikes argued for a narrow definition 

ÏÆ ȰÉÍÐÏÓÓÉÂÌÅȢȱ ! ×ÉÄÅ ÄÅÆÉÎÉÔÉÏÎ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÃÒÅÁÔÅ Á ÄÁÎÇÅÒÏÕÓ ÐÒÅÃÅÄÅÎÔȢ 7ÏÕÌÄ 

future Parsi philanthropists make similar bequests if they saw courts disregarding 

ÓÅÔÔÌÏÒÓȭ ÉÎÔÅÎÔÉÏÎÓȩ 2ÁÉËÅÓ ÔÈÏÕÇÈÔ ÎÏÔȢ "ÕÔ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÎÔÒÁÒÙȟ ÉÎÓÉÓÔÅÄ $ÁÖÁÒȟ ȰÒÉÇÈÔ-

ÍÉÎÄÅÄ ÃÈÁÒÉÔÁÂÌÙ ÉÎÃÌÉÎÅÄ ÐÅÏÐÌÅȱ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÂÅ more likely to leave money for 

ÃÈÁÒÉÔÁÂÌÅ ÐÕÒÐÏÓÅÓ ÉÆ ÔÈÅÙ ËÎÅ× ÉÔ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÎÏÔ ÂÅ ×ÁÓÔÅÄȡ ȰWe are living in 

progressive times. Our surroundings, circumstances and modes of thought are 

undergoing changes. What may appear to be crying wants today may be useless 

ÓÕÐÅÒÆÌÕÉÔÉÅÓ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÆÕÔÕÒÅȢ ȣ ɍ! ÄÏÎÏÒɎ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÉÎ ÍÙ ÏÐÉÎÉÏÎ ÂÅ ÍÏÒÅ ÉÎÃÌÉÎÅÄ ÔÏ 

devote his property to charity if he felt that the Courts in India would be always 

alert to see that in the future under altered circumstances his funds would not be 

wasted on purposes that may become useless and cease to be beneficially 

ÅÍÐÌÏÙÅÄȢȱ128 $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ×ÉÌÌÉÎÇÎÅÓÓ ÔÏ ÄÉÓÒÅÇÁÒÄ ÔÈÅ ÄÏÎÏÒȭÓ ÉÎÔÅÎÔÉÏÎÓ ×ÁÓ ÖÉÅ×ÅÄ 

with suspicion in some quarters, noted Hindi Punch: ȰÁÆÔÅÒ ÁÌÌȟ Á ÄÏÎÏÒȭÓ ÌÁÓÔ ×ÉÓÈ 

ÍÕÓÔ ÂÅ ÒÅÓÐÅÃÔÅÄȱ ɉFigure 6.3ɊȢ 4ÈÅ ÊÕÄÇÅȭÓ ÒÅÁÓÏÎÉÎÇ ÐÒÉÖÉÌÅÇÅÄ ÃÕÒÒÅÎÔ ÓÏÃÉÁÌ 
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needs over fidelity to a particular legal doctrine ɀ or even to a consistent model of 

judgeship. 

Figure 6.3 

“Justitia: Here you are, sir! A good round sum – 82,000 odd. May it do you much good! [Parsi General 

Hospital] Fund: As many thanks as rupees, ma’am, and more than I can tell!” 

Source: “Madame Justitia’s Cheque,” HP (29 Sept. 1907), 23. Courtesy of the British Library SV576. 

 

"ÅÉÎÇ 0ÁÒÓÉ ×ÁÓ ÃÅÎÔÒÁÌ ÔÏ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ stance in both cases. It affected his 

acceptance of the facts presented to him. It also subtended his views of what the 

community needed. Non-Parsis around Davar deferred to him on this basis. At 

another point in the Warden case, Davar consulted the Attorney General at the time 

when the position was occupied by Basil Scott, a future High Court judge. Scott said 

he was not in a position to judge whether a Parsi community hall would be useless, 

given current Parsi needs. As Davar noted, this Attorney General ×ÁÓ ȰÇÏÏÄ ÅÎÏÕÇÈ 

to remark that no one could be in a better position than this Court [i.e., Davar] to 

come to a conclusion upon the point which is likely to give satisfaction to the Parsi 
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ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȢȱ129 4ÈÅ ÐÁÔÔÅÒÎ ÒÅÐÅÁÔÅÄ ÉÔÓÅÌÆ ÁÃÒÏÓÓ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÃÁÓÅ ÌÏÁÄȢ In Petit v. 

Jijibhaiȟ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ "ÒÉÔÉÓÈ ÐÁÒÔÎÅÒ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÂÅÎÃÈ ÁÌÓÏ ÍÁÄÅ ÃÌÅÁÒ ÈÉÓ ÄÅÆÅÒÅÎÃÅ ÏÎ 

ethnoreligious grounds. Davar was a Parsi judge in a Parsi case. Beaman was not.130 

For European legal officials, Davar had unique authority in Zoroastrian trust cases. 

Unsurprisingly, Parsis felt the same way.131 Davar was famous for being hot-

tempered on the bench. His Parsi biographer noted that if he was not known for his 

ÃÉÒÃÕÍÓÐÅÃÔÉÏÎȟ ÁÔ ÌÅÁÓÔ ÈÉÓ ÃÁÓÅÓ ×ÅÒÅ ÕÓÅÆÕÌ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȢ Ȱ3ÁÈÅÂȭÓ 

ÐÅÏÐÌÅȱ ɉÍÅÁÎÉÎg Parsis) and the government seemed to appreciate him equally.132 

Davar assumed the burden and privilege of judicial interference with South Asian 

religion. He alleviated Europeans of a politically charged job while maximizing his 

Ï×Î ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȭÓ ÁÕÔÏÎÏÍÙ ÉÎ the courts. 

Death and Conversion  

Judicial intervention cut deep into Zoroastrianism. Davar delivered his rulings in 

Tarachand v. Soonabai and Petit v. Jijibhai in 1906ɀ8, during his first few years on 

the bench. Although both suits pitted one set of trustees against another, the first 

was best understood as a struggle against European ignorance of Zoroastrian 

practice. This gap was exploited by Parsi parties seeking to invalidate the trusts and 

inherit the property in question. The second was a principled intragroup struggle 

between reformists and orthodox Parsis over the same question that would later 

trigger Saklat v. Bella: was ethnicity (or race) an essential part of Parsi identity? 
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$ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÒÕÌÉÎÇ ÉÎ Tarachand reached back, reversing a ruling that had frustrated the 

performance of death commemoration ceremonies for decades. His decision in Petit 

ÃÁÓÔ Á ÌÏÎÇ ÓÈÁÄÏ× ÆÏÒ×ÁÒÄȡ ÔÈÅ 0ÒÉÖÙ #ÏÕÎÃÉÌȭÓ ρωςυ ÄÅÃÉÓÉÏÎ ÉÎ Saklat v. Bella 

ÄÅÆÅÒÒÅÄ ÔÏ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ Petit judgment. 

Before there were any Parsi judges in the Bombay High Court, an important 

Parsi trust case was decided by the British judge John Jardine.133 His 1887 ruling in 

Limji Nowroji Bánáji v. Bápuji Ruttonji Limbuwállá had a devastating effect on 

Zoroastrian death commemoration ceremonies for decades. Muktad ceremonies 

(Guj. ÍÕËÔàÄ) were rites held during the last ten days of the Zoroastrian calendar to 

commemorate the death of particular Parsis (Figure 6.4).134 Wealthy Parsis often 

left money in their wills for the creation of muktad trusts. This money would fund 

ÔÈÅ ÐÅÒÆÏÒÍÁÎÃÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅÓÅ ÃÅÒÅÍÏÎÉÅÓ ÆÏÌÌÏ×ÉÎÇ ÔÈÅ ÄÏÎÏÒÓȭ Ï×Î ÄÅÁÔÈÓȢ 4ÈÅ ÔÒÕÓÔÓ 

were supposed to last forever. The trouble was that this standard Parsi practice 

violated a rule of classical English trust law (and free-market economics): the rule 

against perpetuities.135 Gregory Kozlowski, Ritu Birla, and Nurfadzilah Yahaya have 

documented the collision between this rule and traditional forms of giving in 

multiple parts of the British Empire.136 A similar conflict occurred in the Parsi 

context. According to the rule against perpetuities, trusts could not last indefinitely ɀ 

in perpetuity ɀ unless they were charitable, meaning that they were of public 
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benefit.137 The question for Jardine was whether the muktad trust before him would 

bÅÎÅÆÉÔ Á ÐÁÒÔÉÃÕÌÁÒ ÉÎÄÉÖÉÄÕÁÌ ÏÒ Á ÌÁÒÇÅÒ ÇÒÏÕÐ ÉÎÓÔÅÁÄȢ %ÖÅÎ ÉÆ ÔÈÅ ÔÒÕÓÔȭÓ ÐÕÒÐÏÓÅ 

×ÁÓ ÔÏ ÂÅÎÅÆÉÔ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙ ÁÌÏÎÅȟ ÉÔ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÃÏÕÎÔ ÁÓ ȰÐÕÂÌÉÃȢȱ *ÁÒÄÉÎÅ ÆÏÕÎÄ 

that the ceremonies in question were for the benefit of the souls of particular dead 

PÁÒÓÉÓȢ 4ÈÅ ÂÅÎÅÆÉÔ ÃÏÎÓÉÓÔÅÄ ÏÆ ȰÃÏÎÓÏÌÁÔÉÏÎ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÓÐÉÒÉÔ ÏÆ certain dead persons and 

comfort to certain ÌÉÖÉÎÇ ÐÅÒÓÏÎÓȢȱ138 The words of the will did not point to benefits 

available to the entire Parsi community, according to Jardine.139 The trust looked 

more like a gift to a private company than a charitable donation: there was no public 

benefit. As a result, the trust was invalid because it was framed to exist in 

perpetuity. 
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Figure 6.4 

“In Praise of the Dead.… In the days of muktad, just ended with the advent of the New Year, the Parsees 

offer prayers and recite the good actions of their dead.” 

Source: HP (19 Sept. 1909), 20. Courtesy of the British Library SV576. 
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At least eight muktad trusts were challenged in the Bombay High Court after 

the Limbuwállá ÒÕÌÉÎÇȢ !ÌÌ ×ÅÒÅ ÉÎÖÁÌÉÄÁÔÅÄ ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÁÕÔÈÏÒÉÔÙ ÏÆ *ÁÒÄÉÎÅȭÓ 

judgment.140 Parsi lobbyists began to press for a statute that would validate muktad 

trusts for 60ɀ80 years, if not forever. Their plans were foiled by dissent within the 

community. In response ÔÏ ÌÏÂÂÙÉÓÔÓȭ ÐÅÔÉÔÉÏÎȟ ÒÅÆÏÒÍÉÓÔÓ ÓÅÎÔ ÔÈÅ ÇÏÖÅÒÎÍÅÎÔ Á 

counter-requisition opposing the proposed bill. They argued, among other reasons, 

that a statute would only encourage ceremonial excess.141 In 1908, another case 

presented itself. This time, it landed ÉÎ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÃÏÕÒÔȢ 4ÈÅ ÐÌÁÉÎÔÉÆÆ ×ÁÓ Á 0ÁÒÓÉ 

barrister named J. K. Tarachand who represented himself. The defendants, pressing 

for the validation of the trusts, were backed by the Bombay Parsi Panchayat.142 

Although no one acknowledged it, the case had the whiff of a test case. Davar 

complimented Tarachand on his mature and conciliatory approach throughout the 

case, his willingness to lose (should the trust be upheld), his offer to waive his fees 

(and not recoup them from the trust funds), and his desire for clarification rather 

ÔÈÁÎ ÆÉÎÁÎÃÉÁÌ ÇÁÉÎ ɉÓÈÏÕÌÄ ÔÈÅ ÔÒÕÓÔ ÂÅ ÖÏÉÄɊȢ 4ÁÒÁÃÈÁÎÄȭÓ Ï×Î ÓÈÁÒÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÔÒÕÓÔ 

×ÁÓ ȰÓÏ ÓÍÁÌÌ ÔÈÁÔ ÉÔ ×ÏÕÌÄ ÎÏÔ ÈÁÖÅ ÂÅÅÎ ×ÏÒÔÈ ÈÉÓ ×ÈÉÌÅ ÔÒÏÕÂÌÉÎÇ ÁÂÏÕÔ ÉÔ ÉÆ ÈÉÓ 

ÍÏÔÉÖÅ ÈÁÄ ÂÅÅÎ ÍÅÒÅÌÙ ÔÏ ÓÈÁÒÅ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÄÉÖÉÓÉÏÎ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÆÕÎÄÓȢȱ143 
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J. K. Tarachand gave Davar the chance to reverse Limbuwállá, an opportunity 

$ÁÖÁÒ ÓÅÉÚÅÄȢ 4ÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÊÕÄÇÅ ×ÁÓ ÓÃÁÔÈÉÎÇ ÉÎ ÈÉÓ ÁÃÃÏÕÎÔ ÏÆ *ÁÒÄÉÎÅȭÓ ÊÕÄÇÍÅÎÔȢ )Æ 

*ÁÒÄÉÎÅ ×ÁÓ ÔÈÅ ÄÉÓÔÁÎÔȟ ȰÏÂÊÅÃÔÉÖÅȱ ÁÒÂÉÔÅÒ ÃÅÌÅÂÒÁÔÅÄ ÂÙ ÒÕÌÅ ÏÆ ÌÁ× ÉÄÅÁÌÓȟ ÈÅ ×ÁÓ 

also the ignorant Briton, utterly unfamiliar with the religious practices at issue and 

prone to being misled by opportunistic litigants. According to Davar, Limbuwállá 

had been a farce. It was a collusive suit manufactured by the parties. It only 

succeeded because a gullible British judge was ostensibly in control. The parties 

agreed to portray the trusts in a way that would produce invalidation. They could 

then share the spoils among themselves. Davar noted that the testimony of a single 

witness, the scholar-priest J. J. Modi, had been presented to Jardine.144 Modi had 

been cross-examined for fifteen minutes and was not allowed to explain himself. 

-ÏÄÉ ÁÎÄ ÔÈÅ ÒÅÓÔ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙ ×ÅÒÅ ÓÈÏÃËÅÄ ÔÏ ÓÅÅ -ÏÄÉȭÓ ÔÅÓÔÉÍÏÎÙ 

used to invalidate muktad trusts, an outcome he never would have supported.145 

The consultation of Zoroastrian texts in the post-Limbuwállá cases was virtually 

nonexistent, and when there was witness testimony, it was perfunctory. Davar 

retraced the process by which a single inept judgment had been mindlessly 

replicated, crushing what Davar regarded as a centuries-old practice.146 

In Tarachand v. Soonabai, Davar ruled that muktad trusts were of public 

benefit, hence charitable and exempt from the rule against perpetuities. He offered a 

detailed reading of Zoroastrian theology and ritual practice. Davar explained that 
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the muktad days were the holiest days of the year for Parsis and that undertaking 

the proper ceremonies was a religious duty.147 These days fell on the last days of the 

Zoroastrian calendar. They werÅ ÎÏÔ ÔÉÅÄ ÔÏ ÁÎÙ ÐÁÒÔÉÃÕÌÁÒ ÉÎÄÉÖÉÄÕÁÌȭÓ ÄÅÁÔÈ ÄÁÔÅȟ 

ÕÎÌÉËÅ ÃÏÍÍÅÍÏÒÁÔÉÏÎ ÃÅÒÅÍÏÎÉÅÓ ÈÅÌÄ ÁÔ ÐÁÒÔÉÃÕÌÁÒ ÉÎÔÅÒÖÁÌÓ ÁÆÔÅÒ Á ÐÅÒÓÏÎȭÓ 

death.148 Second, it was the Zoroastrian belief that, for three days after death, the 

soul hovered in the vicinity of the body. At dawn of the fourth day, the soul ascended 

ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÍÙÔÈÉÃÁÌ #ÈÉÎÖÁÔ "ÒÉÄÇÅȟ ÁÌÓÏ ËÎÏ×Î ÁÓ ÔÈÅ Ȱ"ÒÉÄÇÅ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ 3ÅÐÁÒÁÔÏÒȟȱ ÆÏÒ ÔÈÅ 

final judgment by a team of divine powers. After the final judgment, the soul would 

be sent to the Zoroastrian equivalent of (ÅÁÖÅÎ ÏÒ (ÅÌÌȢ Ȱɍ4ɎÈÅ Judgment is 

ÉÒÒÅÖÏÃÁÂÌÅȟȱ insisted Davar. ȰThere is nothing in the scriptures for the redemption of 

ÔÈÅ ÓÏÕÌ ÁÆÔÅÒ ÔÈÅ ÆÉÎÁÌ ÊÕÄÇÍÅÎÔ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÆÏÕÒÔÈ ÄÁÙȢȱ149 Prayers would be of no use to 

a particular soul more than four days after death, so muktad ceremonies could not 

benefit any individual soul.150 Third and most famously, Davar pointed out that the 

muktad ceremonies included prayers. Some were for the deceased and his or her 

family. Others were for the Parsi community. And there were even some for the 

well-being of all people.151 (ÅÒÅ ×ÁÓ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÐÒÅÃÉÏÕÓ ÐÕÂÌÉÃ ÂÅÎÅÆÉÔȢ "ÅÃÁÕÓÅ 

muktad ceremonies included prayers for all of humanity, the trusts that funded 

them were for public benefit and could validly exist in perpetuity. 
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Davar made other less Zoroastrian-specific arguments. Drawing on recent 

case law addressing Catholics in Ireland, he pointed to the argument that a trust for 

religious purposes was by definition charitable. There was no need to show any 

additional, particular type of public benefit.152 Furthermore, there had been much 

discussion in Tarachand of the benefit accruing to Parsi priests, who relied on 

muktad ceremonies for a good part of their meager incomes. The plaintiff Tarachand 

ÈÁÄ ÁÒÇÕÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ ÐÕÔÔÉÎÇ ȰÍÏÎÅÙ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÐÏÃËÅÔÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÐÒÉÅÓÔÓȱ ÈÁÒÄÌÙ ÃÏÎÓÔÉÔÕÔÅÄ Á 

public benefit. But the judges in the Irish case found that the trust for Masses was 

charitable in part because it helped support priests.153 

$ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÊÕÄÇÍÅÎÔ ÉÎ Tarachand was a detailed investigation of Zoroastrian 

theology and ritual practice. His primary project was to discredit the view that 

muktad ceremonies produced private benefit alone. This was at the heart of 

*ÁÒÄÉÎÅȭÓ ÃÌÁÉÍ ÔÈÁÔ ÔÈÅ ÐÒÏÖÉÓÉÏÎ ÏÆ ÂÅÎÅÆÉÔ to and from specific individuals (or their 

souls) made the trust noncharitable and void. As reflected by his early work in trust 

administratiÏÎȟ $ÁÖÁÒ ×ÁÓ ÄÒÉÖÅÎ ÍÏÒÅ ÂÙ ÈÉÓ ÐÅÒÃÅÐÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙȭÓ ÓÏÃÉÁÌ 

needs than by legal doctrine or a model of judicial restraint. In Tarachand, he waved 

precedent aside with breathtaking boldness. Davar claimed not to be bound by an 

earlier decision if it was based on scanty evidence. Davar himself had far richer 

evidence of Parsi custom and belief ɀ not just from the evidence presented to him in 

court, but also undoubtedly from being Parsi himself. He pointed to the escape 

ÃÌÁÕÓÅ ÉÎ "ÌÁÃËÓÔÏÎÅȭÓ ÄÅÆÉÎÉÔion of stare decisisȡ ȰÔÈÉÓ ÒÕÌÅ ÁÄÍÉÔÓ ÏÆ exception, where 
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the former determination [i.e., judgment] is most evidently contrary to reason; much 

ÍÏÒÅ ÉÆ ÉÔ ÂÅ ÃÏÎÔÒÁÒÙ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÄÉÖÉÎÅ ÌÁ×Ȣȱ154 &ÏÒ $ÁÖÁÒȟ *ÁÒÄÉÎÅȭÓ ÖÉÅ× ÔÈÁÔ muktad 

trusts were for private benefÉÔ ÁÌÏÎÅ ×ÁÓ Ȱmanifestly absurd or unjustȢȱ155 $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ 

Tarachand ruling exemplified his willingness to strain conventional legal reasoning 

for the preservation of religious practice. 

$ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÙ ÉÄÅÎÔÉÔÙ ÁÎÄ ÐÏÌÉÔÉÃÓ ÓÈÏÎÅ ÔÈÒÏÕÇÈ ÉÎ Petit v. Jijibhai, 

too.156 The case involved a French woman named Suzanne Brière who had married 

ÉÎÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÉÌÌÕÓÔÒÉÏÕÓ 4ÁÔÁ ÆÁÍÉÌÙ ÏÆ 0ÁÒÓÉ ȰÍÅÒÃÈÁÎÔ ÐÒÉÎÃÅÓȢȱ 3ÈÅ ×ÁÓ ÍÁÒÒÉÅÄ ÉÎ Á 

purportedly Zoroastrian ceremony and had been initiated into the religion through 

the navjote ceremony immediately before. Orthodox Zoroastrians challenged the 

validity of the navjote because Mrs. Tata did not have a Parsi father ɀ a necessary 

precondition for eligibility, in their view. The lawsuit approached the issue of 

conversion obliquely rather than head on. Did the French Mrs. Tata have the right to 

benefit from the funds and properties of trusts created for Parsis? Even if Mrs. Tata 

had become a Zoroastrian (a question the judges avoided), could she be called a 

Parsi? This question presupposed a semantic distinction between the terms Parsi 

and ZoroastrianȢ 0ÒÉÏÒ ÔÏ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÊÕÄÇÍÅÎÔȟ ÔÈÅ Ô×Ï ÔÅÒÍÓ ÈÁÄ ÂÅÅÎ ÕÓÅÄ 

interchangeably.157 For Davar, however, Parsi was a racial term (in the language of 

the day) whereas Zoroastrian was a religious one. His ruling in Petit separated the 
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terms with the far-reaching effect that trust deeds framed for the benefit of Parsis 

came to be interpreted in the newly restricted, ethnic sense. The distinction seeped 

into the everyday speech of Parsis, reflecting the profound social influence of 

$ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÊÕÄÇÍÅÎÔȢ158 Davar put the distinction simply. An English woman could 

marry a French man and convert to Catholicism, but she would remain English. In 

the same way, a Parsi could cease to be Zoroastrian by converting to another 

religion, but could not change the fact that he or she was ethnically Parsi.159 It was 

$ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ρωπψ ÊÕÄÇÍÅÎÔ ÔÈÁÔ ÆÏÒÍÁÌÉÚÅÄ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÎÔÒÁÃÔÉÏÎ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÕÎÄÅÒÓÔÁÎÄÉÎÇ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ 

term Parsi. 

Davar made many other arguments in Petit. It was true that ancient 

Zoroastrian texts not only permitted conversion to Zoroastrianism, but encouraged 

it ɀ a position that was only logical given that the religion must have gained 

adherents, by definition, when it began. Since their arrival in India, however, Parsis 

had not accepted converts into the fold. And customary practice trumped text, 

according to Davar.160 He also made a floodgates argument: if ethnic outsiders were 

ÐÅÒÍÉÔÔÅÄ ÔÏ ÂÅÎÅÆÉÔ ÆÒÏÍ 0ÁÒÓÉ ÔÒÕÓÔ ÆÕÎÄÓ ÁÎÄ ÐÒÏÐÅÒÔÉÅÓȟ )ÎÄÉÁȭÓ ÌÏ×ÅÒ ÃÁÓÔÅÓ 

would convert in huÇÅ ÎÕÍÂÅÒÓ ÔÏ ÁÖÁÉÌ ÔÈÅÍÓÅÌÖÅÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÉÓȭ ÖÁÓÔ ÃÈÁÒÉÔÁÂÌÅ 

funds. In crassly economic terms, they would deplete Parsi wealth.161 
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Together, the Limbuwállá and Petit cases epitomized the phenomenon that 

became possible as South Asians rose to the upper ranks of the colonial judiciary. 

*ÕÄÇÅÓ ÃÏÕÌÄ ÒÕÌÅ ÉÎ ÔÈÅÉÒ Ï×Î ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÉÅÓȭ ÉÎÔÒÁÇÒÏÕÐ ÄÉÓÐÕÔÅÓȟ ÓÈÁÐÉÎÇ ÔÈÅÓÅ 

ÇÒÏÕÐÓȭ ÌÅÇÁÌ ÅÔÈÎÏÇÒÁÐÈÙ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÍÏÌÄ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÊÕÄÇÅÓȭ Ï×Î ÐÏÌÉÔÉÃÓȢ $ÉÎÓÈÁÈ $ÁÖÁÒ 

revalidated trusts funding muktad ceremonies. He ruled against the entitlement of 

ethnic outsiders to enjoy trust property in the hugely divisive conversion debate. 

Even in his unreported work on the administration of trusts, he pushed certain 

types of developments over others, shaping the microprocesses of religious life at 

the local, spatial level. Nowhere did law more clearly meet Zoroastrian theology and 

ÒÉÔÕÁÌ ÔÈÁÎ ÉÎ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÃÏÕÒÔÒÏÏÍȢ 

Litigation, Trusts, and Charity  

Charity was a theme that permeated these suits ɀ and not just because the trusts 

themselves had charitable aims. The Parsi legal professionals who became involved 

often did so because they supported one side personally. Some even waived their 

fees.162 Dinshah Davar may have accepted a judgeship despite the drop in income 

out of a charitable impulse toward his own community.163 He was not the only one 

to combine law and charity. Parsi solicitors and magistrates gave up evenings and 

weekends to act as informal mediators among their co-religionists, particularly 

those in troubled marriages. Elite Parsis acted as delegates of the Parsi Chief 
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Matrimonial Court on an unpaid basis. Given the large number of underprivileged 

female plaintiffs who approached that court, charity may have been an important 

motive. 

Most Parsi lawyers were paid when they acted in ParsiParsi lawsuits. But 

this, too, had a potentially charitable twist. In Parsi trust suits, judges normally 

ÃÈÁÒÇÅÄ ÁÌÌ ÓÉÄÅÓȭ ÌÅÇÁÌ ÆÅÅÓ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÔÒÕÓÔȢ164 What this meant was that the parties, 

usually trustees, had no personal financial reason to stay out of court. Granted, they 

may have had to provide money up front for certain kinds of legal expenses. But 

they would normally be reimbursed later from the trust funds. In other words, the 

litigation would ultimately be free for the litigants as individuals. This fact was 

significant: fees in these suits could be staggering.165 

The upshot was the diversion of charitable funds: instead of going to the 

neediest members of the community, large chunks of Parsi trust funds paid lawyers. 

A Hindi Punch cartoon depicted the phenomenon with alacrity during the 

proceedings in Petit v. Jijibhai (Figure 6.5). Two vultures ɀ the agents of Zoroastrian 

death rites by exposure ɀappeared dressed as barristers in black gowns and white 

collar bands. Grinning and bespectacled, each had a bundle of papers tucked under 

ÈÉÓ ×ÉÎÇȟ ÏÎÅ ÌÁÂÅÌÅÄ ȰÐÌÁÉÎÔÉÆÆÓȭ ÃÏÓÔÓȱ ÁÎÄ ÔÈÅ ÏÔÈÅÒ ȰÄÅÆÅÎÄÁÎÔÓȭ ÃÏÓÔÓȢȱ 4ÈÅ Ô×Ï 

were perched on a huge sack of coins representing the funds of the Parsi Panchayat. 

4ÈÅÙ ×ÅÒÅ ÈÁÐÐÉÌÙ ÈÅÌÐÉÎÇ ÔÈÅÍÓÅÌÖÅÓȢ Ȱ(Áȟ ÈÁȟ ÈÁȟ ÈÁȦ *ÏÌÌÙ ÔÈÉÓȟ ÔÏ ÆÅÅÄ ÏÎ 
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 See Jijibhoy Muncherji Jijibhoy v. Byramji Jijibhoy ILR 18 Bom 189 (1894); Tarachand v. 

Soonabai, 213; Petit v. Jijibhai, 557; untitled entry on 1913 Parsi trust suit decided by D. D. 

Davar in Patel and Paymaster, V: 178. 
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 See, for example, UdvǕỈǕ, 11; Petit v. Jijibhai, 561; Desai, History, 26; Sharafi, “Bella’s 

Case,” 387–90. 
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ÓÏÍÅÂÏÄÙ ÅÌÓÅȭÓ ÓÉÎÅ×ÓȦȱ ÃÈÏÒÔÌÅÄ ÏÎÅ ÂÉÒÄ ÔÏ ÔÈÅ ÏÔÈÅÒȢ 4ÈÅ ÃÁÐÔÉÏÎ ÄÅÃÌÁÒÅÄ ÔÈÁÔ 

the judges in Petit v. Jijibhai had allowed both sides of the dispute to take their legal 

ÃÏÓÔÓ ÆÒÏÍ ÔÈÅ ÆÕÎÄÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ 0ÁÒÓÉ 0ÁÎÃÈÁÙÁÔȢ Ȱ4ÈÉÓ ÌÏÏËÓ ÌÉËÅ ÆÉÎÉÎÇ Á ÔÈÉÒÄ ÐÁÒÔÙ ÆÏÒ 

ÔÈÅ ÓÉÎÓ ÏÆ ÔÈÅ ÃÏÍÂÁÔÁÎÔÓȢȱ166 
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 “The Vultures,” HP (13 December 1908), 21. 
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Figure 6.5 

Ȱ4ÈÅ 6ÕÌÔÕÒÅÓȢȱ 3ÏÕÒÃÅȡ HP (13 Dec. 1908), 21. Courtesy of the British Library SV576. 

 

 

4ÈÅ ÉÌÌÕÓÔÒÁÔÅÄ ×ÅÅËÌÙȭÓ ÃÙÎÉÃÉÓÍ ×ÁÓ ÐÅÒÈÁÐÓ ÍÉÓÐÌÁÃÅÄȢ 4ÈÅ ÆÕÎÄÓ 

intended to help the neediest of Parsis were instead being spent on lawsuits. Parsi 

philanthropy was subsidizing Parsi litigation. But the fact that so many of the 

lawyers were Parsi themselves meant that much of the money never left the 

community. On the one hand, money intended to spawn cooperation and generosity 
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between Parsis was funding conflict. But, on the other, it was diverted from one 

collective aim ɀ charitable aid to the neediest ɀ to another: the acquisition of fluency 

in colonial law. Parsi familiarity with the structures and language of the colonial 

legal system brought increased autonomy and control. If the vulture barristers 

gorging themselves on panchayat funds could have stepped back, they may have 

observed that there were benefits more principled than the simple greed animating 

them. Of course, legal profiteering was not the only way to achieve the type of 

mobilization developed among Parsis. But self-interest helped produce a pool of 

Parsi lawyers large enough to further another perhaps coincidental and 

unanticipated aim: the creation of a bubble of semiautonomy within the courts and, 

with it, of a state-endorsed, Parsi-authored account of Parsi history and religion. 

Conclusion    

Parsi disputing behavior was oriented not toward exit from the state but rather 

toward infiltration of its institutions and assimilation of its methods. Unlike 

minorities that pursued separatism or that moved to a place at which they could 

become the majority, the Parsis stayed where they were, increasing their control 

over the legal processes that affected them through a two-pronged approach. The 

first prong was the pursuit of legislation by and for Parsis, creating a body of Parsi 

personal law governing marriage and inheritance. The second was semicontrol of 

intragroup litigation by Parsis in the colonial courts. The first Parsis who lobbied for 

colonial legislation in the 1830sɀȬφπÓ ÍÕÓÔ ÈÁÖÅ ÓÅÅÎ ÃÌÅÁÒÌÙ ×ÈÁÔ ÔÈÅÙ ÎÅÅÄÅÄ Ôo do 

and what benefits could result. The road to colonial legislation was sufficiently 
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straight and clear, if not necessarily easy, that its pursuit could be described as a 

deliberate strategy. 

The route to increased control of litigation was different. Particularly in the 

mainstream colonial courts (as opposed to the Parsi matrimonial courts), nobody 

could have known exactly where it would lead or if all the pieces would fit together 

in a productive way. And yet they did by a fortuitous intersection of conditions ɀ 

both heavy intragroup litigation and a significant presence in the legal profession.167 

From the late nineteenth century on, disputes about the proper administration of 

Parsi charitable trusts began coming to court in growing numbers. From about the 

same time, Parsis started rising to the upper ranks of the legal profession in 

Bombay. With the appointment of the first Parsi judge in the Bombay High Court, the 

pieces locked. Parsi trust suits and their Parsi lawyers found themselves in Dinshah 

$ÁÖÁÒȭs court. Drawing on his own personal knowledge and an increasingly 

orthodox vision of Parsi identity, Davar crafted the judicial ethnography of his own 

community. He extended the Parsi comprador tradition from the world of trade into 

the world of law. South Asians had been acting as officials in the colonial legal 

system since the beginning of East India Company rule. However, it was only from 

$ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÐÅÒÉÏÄ ÔÈÁÔ ÔÈÅÙ ÂÅÇÁÎ ÁÃÔÉÎÇ ÉÎ ÔÈÅ ÓÁÍÅ ÃÁÐÁÃÉÔÙ ÁÓ %ÕÒÏÐÅÁÎ ÊÕÄÇÅÓ ÁÎÄ 
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 For cases in which all of the advocates and solicitors’ firms were Parsi (or in which the firms 

had at least one Parsi founding partner), see Ardeshir Dadabhoy Baria and others v. Dadabhoy 

Rustomjee Baria and another ILR 69 Bom 493 (1945); joined cases of In re Shapurji Ratanji 

Tata and Pirojshah Ratanji Tata, insolvents, and Shapurji Ratanji Tata and another v. Byramji 

Muncherji Tata and another ILR 1945 Bom 395. An all-Parsi cast was particularly common in 

the PCMC, where post-1906, a Parsi judge from the Bombay High Court was usually named 

presiding judge. See, for instance, Cowasji Nusserwanji Patuck v. Shehra Cowasji Patuck ILR 

1938 Bom 75. The Bombay Parsi Panchayat frequently turned to Parsi lawyers for their 

professional advice. See Desai, History, 159–60, 222–5, 237–50, 299–301, 338–9, 376. 
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in the highest courts of India anÄ ÔÈÅ ÅÍÐÉÒÅȢ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ×ÏÒË ÏÎ ÔÈÅ ÂÅÎÃÈ ÃÁÐÔÕÒÅÄ 

ÔÈÅ ÐÏÔÅÎÔÉÁÌ ÏÆ 3ÏÕÔÈ !ÓÉÁÎ ÊÕÄÇÅÓ ÒÕÌÉÎÇ ÏÎ ÔÈÅÉÒ Ï×Î ÃÏÍÍÕÎÉÔÉÅÓȭ ÒÅÌÉÇÉÏÕÓ 

affairs. There were other Parsi judges after him and other Zoroastrian trust suits 

that they decided.168 "ÕÔ $ÁÖÁÒȭÓ ÃÁÒÅÅÒ ÂÅÓÔ Élluminated the magic moment that 

occurred for Parsis, even if it came with the inevitable pain and suffering of in-

fighting on the public stage. 
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 See, for instance, Suit No. 243 of 1928: Jalbhoy Rustomji and others v. Dinbai Jalbhoy and 

others (20 February 1928) in “Hon. Justice J.D. Davar. Judgments (10 August 1927–5 April 

1928),” 213–22; Suit No. 609 of 1946: Major Ratan A. Bacha v. Def. (16 April 1946), “Hon. 

Justice N. H. C. Coyajee. Short Causes and Motions (16 March 1943–3 October 1947),” 5–6; 

Suit No. 516 of 1943: Ardeshir Bhicaji Malwa v. Kekobad Bhicaji Malwa (11 August 1943), 

“Hon. Justice N. H. C. Coyajee. Judgments (2 March 1943–20 December 1944)” (all BHC). 


